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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: (Meeting

          3  already in progress... we see this not only in our

          4  City but across the country. Now, we heard the good

          5  news recently, the Mayor's announcement that there

          6  would be additional Section 8 vouchers, and that is

          7  something that is long awaited. But, again, not

          8  necessarily secure for the future, given what's

          9  happened federally, and the Section 8 voucher is

         10  only as good as the ability of the tenant to

         11  actually use that voucher in a neighborhood, in a

         12  building, and that's why we wanted to look at both

         13  the Administration of the program and the

         14  discrimination issues that we think might be

         15  hindering many tenants capacity.

         16                 We have a study that we're going to

         17  hear about today from ACORN, I think a very

         18  extensive study and impressive study that puts out

         19  how few units are left within the Section 8 rental

         20  levels, and then the further problem of a number of

         21  landlords who will not accept Section 8 vouchers

         22  even within those lower-cost rental levels.

         23                 When you add all that together, it

         24  leaves us deeply concerned that our laws are simply

         25  not responding to the changing reality.
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          2                 Another important factor recognized,

          3  we're going to hear from NYCHA soon, NYCHA points

          4  out that even currently 35 percent of its Section 8

          5  holders did not find housing within the allotted

          6  time. So, we have to be clear, there is a clear set

          7  of rules and a time clock running, and when people

          8  cannot find a unit within that time, they no longer

          9  are able to use that voucher.

         10                 All of these factors coming together

         11  causes great concern. Now, I originally introduced

         12  this legislation in 2004. We held a hearing at that

         13  time. We heard from the Human Rights Commission, we

         14  heard from tenants and advocates, we heard from the

         15  rent stabilization association, we heard a lot of

         16  valid critique of the effort to stop discrimination

         17  and a lot of valid concerns about the management of

         18  the Section 8 program. And that's why I think it's

         19  crucial that all of the players work together to

         20  solve the problems in the program, but at the same

         21  time to commit themselves to stopping discrimination

         22  as the rental market gets worse.

         23                 Now, let's be clear, this idea was

         24  generated by impressive achievements in other states

         25  and localities that have turned to these
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          2  anti-discrimination measures. Nearby states like

          3  Connecticut, Massachusetts, New Jersey, have passed

          4  anti-discrimination legislation. Other large cities

          5  like Los Angeles, Chicago, San Francisco, and nearby

          6  Nassau County -- we lost our lights there. See, you

          7  say Nassau County and the lights go out. I don't

          8  know what that means. Nearby Nassau County passed

          9  the anti-discrimination law. So, clearly there is a

         10  trend around the country and in similar states and

         11  jurisdictions to make sure discrimination never

         12  enters into the equation.

         13                 I also would like to note that the US

         14  Department of Housing and Urban Development, where I

         15  used to work, did a study in 2001 that looked at

         16  jurisdictions that had passed anti-discrimination

         17  laws, and recognized a clear pattern of improved

         18  ability of renters to use their Section 8 vouchers

         19  successfully. They notice a 12 percent greater

         20  chance of a renter being able to use the voucher in

         21  those jurisdictions that had the anti-discrimination

         22  laws.

         23                 So, today we want to talk about all

         24  those issues, and it's my hope that as a result of

         25  these hearings, we will move to pass Intro. 61, and
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          2  that that will ultimately help everyone who is

          3  eligible and validly has a Section 8 voucher, to use

          4  that voucher quickly, to get to affordable housing,

          5  and that that will help relieve some of the

          6  overwhelming pressure low-income people are feeing

          7  in this City, and ultimately have other positive

          8  effects, such as reducing our level of homelessness

          9  and all the dislocations occurring to families in

         10  this City.

         11                 I think stopping discrimination will

         12  be one of the elements that allows us to do that.

         13                 And with that, I would like to move

         14  to our first panel. We're pleased to welcome Cliff

         15  Mulqueen of the Human Rights Commission, who has

         16  appeared many times before this Committee and its

         17  previous incarnation, and we welcome your testimony.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Thank

         19  you, Chairperson DeBlasio. Members of the Council,

         20  good morning. Thank you for the opportunity to

         21  testify regarding Intro. 61, which would amend the

         22  New York City Human Rights Law to make it illegal

         23  for any public or private housing provider covered

         24  under the law to refuse to rent or otherwise dispose

         25  of their property to an individual who receives a
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          2  rent subsidy or other form of public assistance.

          3                 The legislative intent specifically

          4  mentions Section 8 and raises the question why a

          5  landlord who voluntarily agreed to participate in

          6  the Section 8 voucher program would discriminate

          7  against voucher holders.

          8                 The Administration is concerned that

          9  this amendment would require all housing providers,

         10  including those as small as two-family homes, to

         11  participate in federal programs that until this

         12  proposed legislation were voluntary.

         13                 Moreover, small buildings, those that

         14  have six or less units, are the standard for rent

         15  regulation in the City. This proposed legislation

         16  would undoubtedly affect that standard.

         17                 If we require all City landlords to

         18  participate in Section 8, for instance, we subject

         19  them to initial and yearly inspections and force

         20  them to abide by the program's extensive housing

         21  quality standards, which control everything from the

         22  number of windows to the number of outlets the unit

         23  must have.

         24                 Additionally, certain landlords are

         25  prohibited from participating in Section 8 and other
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          2  federally funded programs. Included in this group

          3  are landlords who have actions pending against them

          4  for violations of the Fair Housing Act, or any other

          5  federal EEO rules, landlords who have been

          6  previously found to have violated the Fair Housing

          7  Act or the other federal EEO rules, landlords who

          8  have a history of building violations, landlords who

          9  have failed to pay their taxes and the list goes on.

         10                 For the Commission to determine

         11  whether a housing provider has discriminated against

         12  a potential tenant under this proposed legislation,

         13  we would first have to search building records, tax

         14  records and Federal Court records for any violations

         15  or cases pending against the owner, determine

         16  whether the unit, or whether or not the unit would

         17  have met the Housing Quality Standards, and then

         18  interpret federal rules to determine whether the

         19  housing provider was eligible for the program, all

         20  of which places additional burdens on the agency and

         21  would require additional staff and resources.

         22                 It is my understanding, from the New

         23  York City Housing Authority, that there is no

         24  shortage of landlords willing to participate in the

         25  Section 8 program. The program is only limited by
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          2  rental market conditions and the availability of

          3  federal funding, not by landlord non-participation.

          4                 Lastly, this proposal comes close to

          5  making low-income individuals a protected class

          6  under the New York City Human Rights Law. Federal,

          7  State and Administrative Courts do not traditionally

          8  consider decisions discriminatory when they are

          9  based upon valid financial concerns.

         10                 This proposed legislation would

         11  threaten that well-established case law, and would

         12  limit a land owner's ability to make sound financial

         13  decisions regarding the disposition of their

         14  property.

         15                 I again thank you for the opportunity

         16  to testify and welcome any questions you have at

         17  this time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, thank

         19  you. I certainly understand some of the points you

         20  raise, but I'm not sure -- well, I know I don't

         21  agree with a few of them, but more importantly, I

         22  want to hear you expand on them a bit.

         23                 In terms of the difference in terms

         24  of the number of units, I want to ask you if you

         25  feel that someone in a larger building, let's take
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          2  the number of units off the table for a moment, a

          3  larger building, a tenant attempting to get a

          4  Section 8 unit within the valid rental levels of

          5  Section 8, if someone currently knew that they were

          6  not being given an apartment simply because they had

          7  Section 8, if that were said directly to them, how

          8  would the Human Rights Commission deal with that

          9  today?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: You

         11  mean under existing law, or if this proposal was --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Under existing

         13  law, let's start with that.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I don't

         15  think that would be a violation of the Human Rights

         16  Law.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, this is

         18  where I'm confused. If someone has valid -- again,

         19  they're eligible, they've gotten the voucher

         20  appropriately, they're not dealing with a smaller

         21  building, they're dealing with a larger building,

         22  why does that not cause the Human Rights Commission

         23  concern that someone would be turned down because of

         24  the type of income they have?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I'm not
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          2  saying it wouldn't cause us concern. What I'm saying

          3  is if this passes, we would require additional

          4  resources and staff, and that just because an

          5  individual in turn refuses to accept a voucher, that

          6  doesn't necessarily imply a discriminatory animus

          7  toward the individual possessing the voucher.

          8                 There could be a lot of reasons why a

          9  landlord doesn't want to engage in this program,

         10  having nothing to do with discrimination.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I guess what

         12  I'm trying to understand is, if the Commissioner --

         13  I'm going to have to give you a theoretical, because

         14  it's obviously not part of the law now, but if the

         15  Commission felt there was a type of income

         16  discrimination going on, you're saying at this

         17  moment you don't have a place in your law that

         18  allows you to address that, clearly, unlike racial

         19  or religious or other types of discrimination; is

         20  that right?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: That

         22  would be correct. I mean, rarely do people come to

         23  us and are they locked into one particular category

         24  of protected class.

         25                 I'm sure we would endeavor some other
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          2  reason or some way to fit that individual into the

          3  law, but under your scenario, which theoretically

          4  probably would never happen, the individual would be

          5  turned away, the Commission would not be able to

          6  help. We would refer them to NYCHA or HPD or some

          7  other agency.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And how do you

          9  deal with the issue of Section 8 being used for

         10  another type of discrimination? In other words,

         11  someone saying there are fact being other

         12  discriminatory practices going on but the individual

         13  involved saying we won't accept you because you have

         14  a Section 8 voucher; how do you ensure that that is

         15  not being used as screen for some other type of

         16  discrimination?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Well,

         18  again, many times when people come to us, they have

         19  -- there are other indicators, that there is other

         20  forms of discrimination going on.

         21                 We might look at the building. We

         22  might look to see what the demography of the tenants

         23  are. And if, for instance, there were no people of

         24  color living in that building, then we might bring a

         25  case for racial discrimination or national origin
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          2  discrimination or some other type of discrimination.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Give me a

          4  sense, if you would, of some of the numbers of

          5  complaints you have related to housing. Let's just

          6  get the overview of that.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: There

          8  are very few. It seems last year we filed about 50

          9  or 60 housing discrimination cases.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: For the whole

         11  City?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: For the

         13  whole City, that's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Doesn't that

         15  strike you as unusual?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: We

         17  filed cases against them. There are also cases that

         18  we resolved. We do a lot of, as far as disability,

         19  discrimination housing, we do a lot of work there

         20  and we resolve the cases before they get filed.

         21  There were probably a couple hundred of those that

         22  were taken care of without the filing of a case.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Can you compare

         24  that to recent years in any way? Again, I'm thinking

         25  about a City of over 8 million people and housing
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          2  discrimination I think has been a substantial

          3  challenge over the years here, and obviously, as I

          4  mentioned, I used to work at the US Department of

          5  Housing and Urban Development that has a whole wing

          6  of the agency devoted to fair housing. I find it

          7  hard to believe that there are so few cases existing

          8  in New York City, particularly in this rental

          9  market.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: That's

         11  what comes to us. I mean, the people come in the

         12  door. If they state a claim we file the case for

         13  them. We try to resolve their cases before filing a

         14  case. If that's successful, as I said, there's

         15  probably 100 incidences last year that that

         16  occurred, and we also do testing. We go out on a

         17  regular basis and try and look for housing

         18  discrimination. That's what we have. That's what we

         19  filed last year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you believe

         21  a substantial number of those cases end up with the

         22  State Human Rights Division?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: It's

         24  possible. I have no idea, though, how many cases

         25  they filed.

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And can you

          3  compare against five years ago, ten years ago,

          4  within the City Human Rights Commission, do you have

          5  any sense of how the numbers have evolved over time?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Our

          7  stats have been pretty consistent, as far as the

          8  percentages of cases and the types of cases, and the

          9  dispositions of those cases.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, just would

         11  you lay that out? To just start with the overall

         12  number of complaints of all types you got, and then

         13  just give us the breakout how many were handled with

         14  a formal proceeding, how many were handled in some

         15  other manner? Could you just lay out the numbers for

         16  us?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I think

         18  we filed about 600 cases last year, probably 75

         19  percent were employment. The remaining were housing

         20  and public accommodations. I don't know what the

         21  exact percentages would be of each.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, in your

         23  testimony, you raise several different points, one

         24  is the size of the buildings that would be affected.

         25  Second is the question of whether the program is
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          2  meant to be voluntary or not, and then the question

          3  of the impact it would have on your staffing levels,

          4  your ability to handle the problem.

          5                 You had the recent change, for

          6  example, when we passed the transgender rights bill,

          7  and I know there has been other changes over the

          8  years, in each instance I'm sure you had to look at

          9  the issue of whether staffing would have to change

         10  accordingly.

         11                 I'm interested in the question of

         12  whether the staffing problem is not sort of the back

         13  end of the process. If we think there is a valid

         14  need to address discrimination in this forum, I

         15  would assume figuring out the staffing to go with it

         16  is the easy part.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I think

         18  we would need about five additional employees to

         19  handle this. And just because this is going to be

         20  different than some of the other amendments that

         21  have been passed recently, it's going to require us,

         22  instead of just having the individual come in and

         23  speak to us and being able to determine whether or

         24  not we have enough to file a complaint, we're

         25  actually going to have to go out, we're going to
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          2  have to inspect the apartment, we're going to have

          3  to check various databases to actually see if there

          4  was discrimination.

          5                 In my opinion, if the apartment

          6  didn't meet the housing quality standards, or if the

          7  landlord wasn't eligible to participate in the

          8  program, then we wouldn't be able to bring a

          9  discrimination case against that individual.

         10                 So, there is more to do on the front

         11  end here than in normal circumstances.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, you say in

         13  your testimony that your understanding from NYCHA,

         14  and we're going to hear from NYCHA in a little bit,

         15  is there is no shortage of landlords willing to

         16  participate. There is obviously a lot of evidence

         17  that suggests, it may not be a theoretical shortage

         18  of landlords, but there appears to be a shortage of

         19  actually available units and landlords who are

         20  comfortable taking the vouchers. I think you should

         21  review the results of that ACORN study yourself and

         22  see what it means to the Human Rights Commission.

         23                 I just wanted to say up front, I

         24  think that is an opening question, whether there are

         25  enough people willing to participate at this point.
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          2                 You also say toward the end of your

          3  testimony that because this comes close to making

          4  low-income individuals a protected class, that that

          5  opens up a number of questions for you because that

          6  is not reflected in current and federal State law;

          7  am I interpreting that right?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Right.

          9  If a landlord were to deny someone housing based on

         10  financial concerns, that wouldn't be discrimination.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And how do you

         12  differentiate the difference between valid financial

         13  -- I'm not saying just in housing, in anything you

         14  do as a Human Rights Commissioner, valid financial

         15  concerns, you know, absolutely, any landlord,

         16  anybody dealing with financial transactions have a

         17  right to need to know that there is security on both

         18  sides, let's say, versus something that becomes

         19  discrimination? You might call it class

         20  discrimination, you might call it economic

         21  discrimination, how do you deal with a valid form of

         22  discrimination, even though it's not explicit in

         23  federal and State law, but everyone in the world

         24  knows that class discrimination has existed down

         25  through the ages, so where do you place that in your
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          2  work?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Well,

          4  the numbers don't lie. Two plus two always equals

          5  four. So, we would look at the numbers and see what

          6  the income is compared with the expenses and then

          7  try and make a determination as to whether this

          8  individual actually makes enough money to afford

          9  this premises. We might also, we would also look at

         10  the other individuals that live in the building. If

         11  it was a race issue, for instance, we might look at

         12  some of the Caucasian tenants in the building, see

         13  how individual applicant's finances compared to

         14  their finances, and, obviously, if they made less

         15  money, or their financial condition was worse than

         16  the current applicant, then there probably would be

         17  some discrimination going on there.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And what about

         19  a case where a landlord had previously taken Section

         20  8 and had participated in the program, and then

         21  stopped doing so in individual cases so that you

         22  certainly didn't have a history of non-participation

         23  that the landlord had voluntarily joined the program

         24  long ago but then did not in some cases take the

         25  vouchers.
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          2                 And, again, we're working from the

          3  assumption these vouchers are backed by, you know,

          4  the government. This is not a questionable source of

          5  income. And not for a moment ignoring that there

          6  have been administrative issues and all, but no one

          7  is questioning the quality of the income. In fact,

          8  one could argue it's a lot more stable income than a

          9  lot that comes from private sector employment.

         10                 So, if you have landlords who have

         11  taken Section 8 vouchers and stopped taking them and

         12  there's a pattern of that, what does that say to you

         13  under your current law?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I would

         15  think that that's an individual that doesn't have a

         16  discriminatory animus toward individuals that hold

         17  vouchers, and that there is some other reason why

         18  this landlord is now refusing to take vouchers.

         19                 Now, you said two different things:

         20  One, you said, one statement you made is that

         21  refusing all together to take them at this point,

         22  and then one statement you said refusing them on a

         23  case-by-case basis. If the landlord is letting some

         24  people in with vouchers, not others, then I would

         25  assume there is something else going on, and I would
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          2  have to look at the individuals that were accepted

          3  and the individuals that were rejected.

          4                 If the landlord had participated for

          5  years and now has decided not to participate any

          6  more, I would assume, or my inclination would be

          7  that there is something else going on besides

          8  discrimination, and I'd have to look into that and

          9  see what it was.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: There is

         11  nothing in your current work that responds to,

         12  again, I'm using very broad terms, but class

         13  discrimination or income discrimination or anything

         14  having to do with someone's economic status.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I mean,

         16  income comes up all the time in our work, when

         17  someone applies to purchase a co-op, for instance,

         18  and the Board refuses them on the grounds of

         19  financial concerns, we would always looking at the

         20  finances and we'd be determining whether the

         21  individual could afford to live in the building and

         22  what the finances of the owners are as compared to

         23  this individual. I mean, it comes up all the time,

         24  and that's how we handle it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But just to
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          2  stay clear, there is no protected class; that's what

          3  you're saying?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: That's

          5  correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's what

          7  you're saying? There is nothing. We have done a lot

          8  to protect people on race, religion and a number of

          9  other factors, but nothing in general on the

         10  question of economics income class?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I would

         12  say that's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And just

         14  one administrative question and then I'm going to

         15  see if my colleagues have questions. We've just been

         16  joined by my colleague, Council Member Gale Brewer,

         17  of Manhattan.

         18                 If this bill were passed in its

         19  current form, you had said you could see needing an

         20  additional staff of at least five people. I'm not

         21  going to hold you to a number but it's just an

         22  initial projection.

         23                 But the actual process of

         24  investigating a complaint would be similar, it

         25  sounds like, from just these answers you've given
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          2  here. That if you had this legislation on the books,

          3  someone said I went to the landlord, I had my

          4  voucher, I did everything right and they would not

          5  let me in, you would approach it the same way you

          6  approach other types of discrimination currently.

          7  Same investigatory practice.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Once a

          9  complaint was filed we would follow the same

         10  practice.

         11                 As I had indicated earlier, there

         12  would be several steps that would have to be taken

         13  in advance of filing a complaint that we don't

         14  necessarily take now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, let me

         16  see if my colleagues have any questions. Anyone?

         17  Okay, thank you very much, Deputy Commissioner. I

         18  appreciate your testimony.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Thank

         20  you. Have a good day.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And now the

         22  next panel, from the Department of Housing,

         23  Preservation and Development. Patricia Zafriadis. Am

         24  I saying that right? Oh, I did not say it right. And

         25  Carol Clark. I'm sorry. Carol Clark, my constituent.
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          2                 You get only easy questions, Carol,

          3  because you're a constituent.

          4                 MS. CLARK: Good. That's what we like

          5  best, Council member.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Assistant

          7  Commissioner, would you say your name one more time

          8  so that I get it right?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         10  Sure. Zafiriadis.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Zafiriadis.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         13  Pretty good.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right.

         15  Three or four tries and I'll get it right.

         16                 Welcome. And we welcome your

         17  testimony.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         19  Good morning, Chairman DeBlasio, and members of the

         20  General Welfare Committee. My name is Patricia

         21  Zafiriadis. I'm the Assistant Commissioner for the

         22  New York City Department of Housing Preservation and

         23  Development's Division of Tenant Resources.

         24                 DTR supports the overall mission of

         25  the agency to improve the availability,
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          2  affordability and quality of housing in New York

          3  City by administering the federal Section 8 Housing

          4  Choice Voucher Program.

          5                 As one of New York City's three

          6  Section 8 Administrators, NYCHA and the New York

          7  State Department of Housing and Community Renewal

          8  also administer Section 8 in New York, HPD utilizes

          9  this important federal resource to address the

         10  critical housing needs of New Yorkers. Our Section 8

         11  program is a key element in advancing Mayor

         12  Bloomberg's New Housing Marketplace plan.

         13                 HPD currently administers Section 8

         14  to over 28,000 households, who are housed by

         15  approximately 5,800 owners. Funding for the Section

         16  8 program is appropriated on an annual basis by

         17  Congress, and is administered by HUD. The annual

         18  funding amount, in large part, determines the

         19  availability of vouchers.

         20                 The basic tenets of our program

         21  administration include application and admission,

         22  when vouchers are available, followed by annual

         23  eligibility recertification, annual unit inspection.

         24                 I will now provide an overview of

         25  each piece.
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          2                 The application admission process.

          3  HPD Section 8 applicants must meet specific

          4  preference criteria in order to be placed onto HPD's

          5  Section 8 waitlist. This criteria generally targets

          6  our Section 8 assistance to specific households who

          7  are impacted by other HPD development programs,

          8  including those that reside in buildings that are

          9  owned by the City of New York or an entity

         10  designated by the City of New York to achieve its

         11  housing goals, and are in need of substantial

         12  renovation, or have been developed, newly

         13  constructed or renovated with financial assistance

         14  from HPD or buildings for which HPD maintains a

         15  regulatory responsibility.

         16                 In all of these instances, Housing

         17  Choice Vouchers are a critical resource in

         18  preventing the displacement and potential

         19  homelessness of low-income households from

         20  revitalized neighborhoods.

         21                 HPD's Section 8 program also

         22  partnered with other government agencies, and HPD

         23  programs to assist special needs populations,

         24  including homeless clients from shelters operated by

         25  HPD who have been vacated from housing due to unsafe
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          2  conditions, such as fire or other disaster, and the

          3  Department of Homeless Services.

          4                 Pursuant to special contracts offered

          5  by HUD, HPD also issues enhanced or sticky vouchers

          6  to families affected by a housing conversion action.

          7                 These actions occur when a private

          8  property owner opts out of a project-based contract

          9  or prepays on an existing federal mortgage and

         10  converts the property to market rate housing.

         11                 The use of enhanced voucher has

         12  become a critical tool in preserving affordable

         13  housing opportunities for many New Yorkers who

         14  reside in Mitchell-Lama buildings that are leaving

         15  the program.

         16                 To help ensure that as many housing

         17  opportunities as possible are available to our

         18  program participants, applicants that are pulled

         19  from our wait list and deemed eligible will receive

         20  a voucher that allows them up to 120 days, the

         21  maximum time allowable for HUD to locate eligible

         22  housing.

         23                 Further, HPD will subsidize a unit up

         24  to 110 percent of the fair market rent, also the

         25  maximum payment standard allowable by HUD. Our
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          2  vouchers may be used in any of the five boroughs, or

          3  anywhere else in the US where a Section 8 program is

          4  administered.

          5                 Housing quality standards. All

          6  Section 8 administrators are required by federal

          7  legislation to ensure that all subsidized households

          8  occupy housing that is decent, safe and sanitary. To

          9  meet this requirement, HPD conducts a housing

         10  quality standards inspection prior to providing

         11  assistance on behalf of a client and at least

         12  annually throughout the term of assisted tenancy.

         13                 Annual recertification. Once admitted

         14  to the program, participants are required to

         15  recertify their household income and family

         16  composition on at least an annual basis.

         17                 HPD has a dedicated client services

         18  unit available to assist tenants and landlords

         19  during business hours on a walk-in or by appointment

         20  basis. HPD also coordinates homebound visits for

         21  participants with special needs.

         22                 While the basic tenets of program

         23  administration are straightforward, in recent years,

         24  HYD's oversight of Section 8 has greatly increased

         25  as program costs nationwide have skyrocketed,
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          2  resulting in more complex administration.

          3                 Increased scrutiny by HUD in the form

          4  of frequent audits and more stringent recording

          5  requirements has resulted in a tighter, more

          6  efficient HPD Section 8 program.

          7                 For example, all Section 8

          8  administrators are evaluated by HUD via the Section

          9  8 Management Assessment Program, also known as

         10  SEMAP. This report card system looks at 14

         11  indicators to ensure the program is managed

         12  according to HUD regulations and the PHA's own

         13  administrative plan.

         14                 HPD's 2006 SEMAP score has improved a

         15  total of 13 points from 205, based largely on

         16  efficiencies in the following areas:

         17                 - correction of Housing Quality

         18  Standards deficiencies within 30 days of inspection,

         19  increased by 32 percent.

         20                 Also, the number of participant

         21  re-examinations, completed on time, increased 16

         22  percent.

         23                 Further, our compliance with HUD's

         24  Public Indian Housing Information Center, also known

         25  as PIC, reporting requirement has also improved
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          2  dramatically, from an 85 percent compliance rate in

          3  mid-2006, to a 97 percent rate as of February 2007.

          4                 However, the HUD scores alone don't

          5  tell the full story. To illustrate with one example,

          6  in December 2005, the program had nearly 4,000

          7  participants in overdue annual recertifications. Our

          8  focus on improving program infrastructure resulted

          9  in this number being reduced by nearly 75 percent in

         10  just one year's time.

         11                 In addition to managing our program

         12  to conform to HUD requirements, HPD has focused

         13  significantly on improving our relationships with

         14  tenants and landlords. Some of the proactive

         15  measures we have taken over the past few years

         16  include,

         17                 - contracting with three

         18  community-based organizations to provide assistance

         19  and advocacy to HPD's Section 8 voucher holders at

         20  risk of homelessness;

         21                 - regularly offering landlord

         22  workshops or trainings to provide information

         23  updates or address outstanding issues;

         24                 - conducting all HQS inspections with

         25  hand-held devices that enable more efficiency and
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          2  more accurate communication of inspection results.

          3                 - we also established and staffed up

          4  Client and Owner Services units to address tenant

          5  and landlord concerns in person and via customer

          6  service phone lines, and to more quickly process

          7  rent increase requests;

          8                 - we've revised all critical

          9  communication documents to landlords and

         10  participants for greater clarity and accessibility;

         11                 - we've also established a Quality

         12  Assurance Unit to review ten percent of case files

         13  annually;

         14                 - to date we have reorganized 60

         15  percent of all of our tenant case files and we've

         16  done it in a format to facilitate speed of

         17  processing and verification of completeness;

         18                 - and finally, a contract has been

         19  executed for written and oral translation services.

         20  All major tenant documents are being translated into

         21  Spanish, and interpreters are already available for

         22  tenant hearings and conferences.

         23                 In closing, it's important to note

         24  that while HPD's administration of the Section 8

         25  program has improved over the past few years, we
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          2  expect to continue to make improvements. Thank you

          3  for this opportunity to testify.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I have a few

          5  questions, and I think my colleagues will have

          6  questions for you as well.

          7                 Again, the impulse here is to try and

          8  recognize the changes happening around us, which are

          9  harder and harder for lower-income folks to

         10  navigate. And I know no one understands that better

         11  than you and your agency.

         12                 And, again, I have tremendous respect

         13  for what you're doing and the significant number of

         14  new units you're bringing on line, but, you know,

         15  around us are these other challenges which we're

         16  fighting against all the time.

         17                 At the same time, I want to be clear

         18  that I think a lot of landlords have honestly tried

         19  to engage in a Section 8 program and have found it

         20  difficult. Now, you know, I think ultimately we all

         21  should go the extra mile to make sure that someone

         22  who has a voucher is accommodated. So, whether it's

         23  government, whether it's landlords, my argument

         24  would be everyone has to find a way to make it work.

         25                 But I think it's also clear that the
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          2  more we resolve the administrative issues in the

          3  program, the more likelihood that everything could

          4  go smoothly, and that would benefit landlord and

          5  tenant alike.

          6                 Now, one example, one of the concerns

          7  we've heard from landlords is that HPD has a history

          8  of having landlords deal with a variety of different

          9  staff members, and that added to some confusion,

         10  added to time frames stretching out, people sort of

         11  reinventing the wheel. What is the current dynamic?

         12  How do you work with an individual landlord as

         13  they're going through a Section 8 processing?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         15  Well, as I mentioned, we have 5,800 landlords on our

         16  system. For our largest landlords we've organized

         17  all of their tenants. We've consolidated the

         18  caseload and assigned it to as many appropriate case

         19  managers as possible, thereby streamlining the

         20  communication process. There's been quite a bit of

         21  consolidation and organization. We've also met

         22  regularly with landlords over the past few years.

         23  We've done a number of reconciliations and

         24  communicated to them who the key points of contact

         25  are, should they have any questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I heard a

          3  plural there. Still points of contact? In other

          4  words, I want to make sure I'm hearing it right.

          5                 Do you or do you not have a system

          6  now where a landlord has a single liaison through

          7  the whole process?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          9  They may not have just one single liaison. However,

         10  I am very accessible. They do have a team, however,

         11  with a point person on it, and so that the

         12  communication process has been significantly

         13  streamlined.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Would there be

         15  an argument? Again, since we're all trying to get

         16  this to work and I am sympathetic to the fact that

         17  time is money and when things are delayed it has a

         18  real economic impact for everyone.

         19                 Is there not an argument to move to a

         20  system of a single point of contact as is the case

         21  in all good customer service structures?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         23  Right. I think that we've reorganized in a way that

         24  we think has made vast improvements in the customer

         25  service we're able to provide.

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 I think that we can continue to make

          3  improvements and we can look at that. However, I

          4  just want to stress a little bit of concern

          5  considering that we have 28,000 participants in our

          6  program that we might not be able to provide one

          7  single absolute point of contact for every single

          8  landlord.

          9                 However, I am very accessible, and as

         10  we sort of go up the chain, I think a number of

         11  landlords, if they have any issues, they know that

         12  they can bring their complaints directly to me and

         13  we will address them.

         14                 But we can take a look.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me also

         16  add, I think this is an area where there is a real

         17  possibility of improving the system for everyone's

         18  benefit. So, I think that's something we want to

         19  work with you on.

         20                 Let me ask when you say a team also,

         21  how many people in a team? So, in other words,

         22  what's the maximum number of people a single

         23  landlord might deal with on their application within

         24  that team?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:
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          2  The maximum number of people they would deal with

          3  might be four people, and that would involve their

          4  case manager and the director that the case manager

          5  reports to, then the director of the HQS unit, and

          6  then also the person who oversees the owner services

          7  which handles rent increases and landlord

          8  registration issues. And that's all unified under my

          9  umbrella.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Again,

         11  you may have referred to some of the information I

         12  am seeking in your testimony, and forgive me if you

         13  did, just lay out the time lines for us, averages,

         14  you know, as little as, as much as.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         16  Sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let's talk

         18  about inspections, for example. From the time an

         19  inspection is requested to the time it's completed,

         20  certified, you know.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         22  Sure. From the point that an inspection is, for

         23  someone who is just moving into a unit, generally

         24  from the point an inspection is requested, if we

         25  received all the information we need to register
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          2  that landlord in that system, the inspection will be

          3  scheduled within two weeks time, sometimes a lot

          4  less, depending on how much notice that landlord

          5  needs to make the unit available for inspection.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And what about

          7  what has to happen after an inspection to finalize

          8  the process?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         10  Once the inspection is done, the majority of the

         11  process is complete. So, we would be able to

         12  finalize the process very quickly. Some of the

         13  factors that affect the time frame are dependent on

         14  the landlord and the tenant's execution of the lease

         15  and the landlord's execution of a HAP (phonetic)

         16  contract with HPD. So, as soon as we have all of

         17  those documents together, we're generally able to

         18  process the new admissions, generally, again, within

         19  one- to two-weeks' time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: One to two

         21  weeks, after the first one to two weeks; is that

         22  what you're saying?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         24  Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You sound like
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          2  you're averaging.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          4  Both of those steps together generally take about a

          5  month, if we are able to receive everything and the

          6  unit passes inspection.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, let me get

          8  clear. That's still a lot of time in the direct

          9  scheme of things. And you've agreed that the more

         10  the landlord dealt with the one point of contact the

         11  better.

         12                 Are there other types of specific

         13  changes that you think can be made to speed that up?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         15  think we're taking a pretty close look at our

         16  operations. I think that's something we would like

         17  to continue the discussion on. You know, after we do

         18  a little more analysis.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         20                 Let me turn to my colleagues who have

         21  some questions.

         22                 Council Member Tom White.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 How many HPD voucher holders are not
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          2  able to find an apartment within the allotted time

          3  in '06; do you know how and why they were unable to

          4  find an apartment?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          6  Sure.

          7                 Well, as I mentioned earlier, we

          8  provide our voucher holders with the maximum

          9  allowable time to locate a unit, and that's 120

         10  days. I don't have exact statistics on what our

         11  rates are, but I do want to point out that a lot,

         12  the majority of our applicants are already connected

         13  to housing that HPD has some other relationship with

         14  through one of our development programs. And so that

         15  actually goes a long way in terms of assisting

         16  tenants to locate housing or linking them to housing

         17  or they may already be in that housing, and we're

         18  just providing a subsidy for them in that housing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.

         20                 Under what circumstances do you grant

         21  extensions?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         23  Generally there have to be special circumstances.

         24  For example, was ill and in the hospital, we would

         25  absolutely grant an extension.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay. For how

          3  long?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: It

          5  depends on the term. If they were in the hospital

          6  for 30 days, we would at least grant an extension

          7  for 30 days, for example. It's determined on a

          8  case-by-case basis.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay. What is

         10  HPD's voucher success rate? And do you know how that

         11  compares to the success rate of other large cities?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         13  don't have statistics on how we compare or generally

         14  what those numbers are, so we would have to get back

         15  to you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay, I'd

         17  appreciate that.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         19  Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: We understand

         21  that the HPD receives vouchers from HUD on an annual

         22  basis; what happens if the vouchers are not used

         23  within the same fiscal year? Do the vouchers get

         24  returned back to HUD?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:
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          2  There have been a lot of changes in the federal

          3  funding formulas, and it's true that we're told what

          4  our budget authority is on an annual basis.

          5                 HUD also requires us to at least

          6  utilize at least 95 percent of our vouchers on an

          7  annual basis. We have not had an issue with that,

          8  meeting that requirement historically, and, again,

          9  HUD may capture funding amounts, but, again, there

         10  have been changes and I don't think the jury is out

         11  fully on what will be happening in the near future.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay. Does HPD

         13  assist owners and tenants in mediating disputes that

         14  could lead to termination of a tenant's lease?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: As

         16  I briefly mentioned earlier, in the past few years

         17  HPD has contracted with three community-based

         18  organizations to assist tenants who are on the verge

         19  of homelessness. This has been working very well.

         20  Tenants are assisted with all kinds of scenarios,

         21  whether it has to do with HQS issues, payment

         22  arrears or a variety of other issues, if they just

         23  need assistance in completing the process required.

         24  So, we have made that available for tenants to

         25  assist them.
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          2                 We are also available to answer any

          3  questions they have and help them meet any

          4  compliance requirements they have outstanding with

          5  our program.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay. Now, in

          7  terms of the amount of resources that are allotted

          8  through the Section 8 to pay for an apartment, if

          9  the composition of that family changes from where

         10  they have a voucher for a one-bedroom apartment, and

         11  an addition is added to the family, what happens to

         12  the process for the Section 8, to make

         13  accommodations for that new addition to the family?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: A

         15  family must contact us if there is any change in

         16  household composition. We will recertify their

         17  composition and their overall household income and

         18  adjust their subsidy accordingly. If they're

         19  eligible for a different size unit, we would offer

         20  them a larger or smaller voucher accordingly and

         21  they opt to move. However, unless they are

         22  overcrowded in that unit, they are not required to

         23  move.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay. How many

         25  payment suspensions in '06 resulted from a tenant's
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          2  failure to recertify their household composition and

          3  income for the Section 8 program?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

          5  don't have an exact number, but when a tenant

          6  doesn't comply with those requirements, they may be

          7  terminated. We don't suspend the subsidy.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Oh, there may

          9  be reasons for that, right?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         11  Correct. And there is a due process which gives them

         12  multiple notices and allows them the opportunity to

         13  both have a conference and an appeal proceeding with

         14  us, where whenever we can we generally will resolve

         15  those issues before it reaches the termination

         16  point.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Now, I think

         18  the Chairman asked this question, but I would like

         19  further clarification on it.

         20                 We've had reports that the landlords

         21  will mail forms stating that the repairs have been

         22  made but the agency will misplace the phone; what do

         23  you do in that case?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         25  We've made a lot of effort to be in much better
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          2  communication with our landlords. We have been using

          3  hand-held devices which allow us to obtain more

          4  accurate and efficient, you know, to transfer the

          5  inspection results more accurately and efficiently.

          6  As soon as the unit fails, we notify the landlord

          7  immediately, and we automatically schedule a

          8  reinspection within 30 days.

          9                 After that point, if the unit fails

         10  again for the same reason a landlord must notify us

         11  once the repairs have been made and then we will

         12  reinspect.

         13                 We encourage landlords to follow-up

         14  with us if they have any concerns, and generally we

         15  reach out again to landlords if we have not heard

         16  anything from them over a period of time to help

         17  ensure that if repairs have been made, we go out

         18  there and reinspect.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you very

         20  much, Commissioner.

         21                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. As

         22  I informed you at the beginning of the meeting, I

         23  have two meetings at the same time. I beg your

         24  leave.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You can't be
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          2  two places at once, so you have to be at the other

          3  place now. Thank you very much. Council Member Gale

          4  Brewer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

          6  Certainly HPD has been very responsive, so I

          7  appreciate that. Obviously I have or had about 30

          8  Mitchell-Lamas, so I'm extremely knowledgeable about

          9  the sticky vouchers. So, my question is two-fold:

         10  One is, can you just be specific, I know that NYCHA

         11  will testify, but can you be specific as to what you

         12  do on Section 8 versus what NYCHA? Obviously, the

         13  begin of the sticky voucher discussion, we were

         14  working with you unenhanced and now we're working

         15  with NYCHA. So, could you just be specific as to

         16  what you do regarding Section 8 and what NYCHA does

         17  regarding Section 8, in terms of program and

         18  administration?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         20  Sure. I cannot speak for NYCHA because I'm not

         21  familiar --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: They're

         23  speaking for themselves.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         25  Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You guys

          3  hopefully coordinate, that's what I worry about. Go

          4  ahead.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          6  I'm glad to share what we do. When we are going to

          7  be handling a conversion, we generally coordinate

          8  with both the landlord, the tenant association and

          9  whoever else is involved in the action and HUD, of

         10  course, and we set up an introductory meeting on

         11  site typically with the tenants to walk them through

         12  what the process will be.

         13                 After that point, we basically follow

         14  our normal application process, where tenants are

         15  given an application deadline, they're screened,

         16  they're eligible, we then invite them to a briefing

         17  when possible, we hold that briefing locally. And

         18  then we issue them vouchers. We have also conducted

         19  by this point inspections on most of the units, and

         20  gotten everything in place necessary with the

         21  landlord to expedite the process.

         22                 And then tenants are admitted to the

         23  program.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: After moving

         25  down to fit the family composition and Section 8.
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          2  That's a whole other issue.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          4  Right. HUD has very specific requirements on what

          5  the size of the family must be.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And you do

          7  that for all current conversions for sticky

          8  vouchers?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         10  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Because

         12  I know NYCHA used to do that and now you're doing

         13  that. That's a fact, or vice versa.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         15  believe we both actually handle conversion actions

         16  in New York City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's why

         18  it's confusing. So, you're both doing conversion

         19  actions?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         21  Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, it

         23  doesn't have any relevance to whether it's a sticky

         24  or regular or the kind of development or what's the

         25  scenario which you are in charge or NYCHA is in
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          2  charge?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          4  Sure. I think it will vary to some degree based on

          5  who has the capacity at any given time. Generally

          6  the rule is that if a building is in our

          7  project-based program and it's opting out, we will

          8  convert it, we will continue to administer the

          9  subsidy for the tenants so that there is no

         10  interruption.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         13  The same with a Mitchell-Lama building that's under

         14  the City's supervision, that's handled by HPD and we

         15  will handle that kind of conversion action to ensure

         16  continuity and efficient coordination internally.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The second

         18  question is once a person is in an enhanced voucher

         19  situation, we will just talk about that for a

         20  minute, and say, for instance, there is a change of

         21  family composition. I will just tell you in reality,

         22  because they're in my office every single day. The

         23  language is an issue because family composition

         24  changes, people don't necessarily know what they're

         25  supposed to do. They may think they do, but they
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          2  don't. And at the language in terms of your point in

          3  your testimony needs to be enhanced for those who

          4  were there.

          5                 Second, their issue is -- just so I

          6  understand this, the enhanced for the

          7  Mitchell-Lamas, for instance, that stays with the

          8  residents, or is that with that unit?

          9                 I think I know the answer, but I want

         10  to hear it from you.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         12  Sure. It's a tenant-based subsidy.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Is there any

         14  way of changing that? Let me be very specific. We

         15  have no preservation of affordable housing in this

         16  City, despite what anybody might say. So, is it

         17  possible to change this?

         18                 In other words, the Mitchell-Lamas

         19  are disappearing, okay, is it possible to change

         20  that tenant-based, when that person dies, moves on,

         21  there could be certain criteria, to keep it with

         22  that unit? Is there any discussion along those lines

         23  that would be a preservation program for affordable

         24  housing?

         25                 MS. CLARK: Sure. I would have to
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          2  defer that question to the Law Department and to HUD

          3  actually, because the reason we are able to offer

          4  vouchers to these tenants is because HUD gives a

          5  special allocation of tenant-based vouchers to do

          6  so.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But is that

          8  something that you could consider? Would that occur

          9  to HPD?

         10                 MS. CLARK: HPD has no authority to

         11  make that change.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         13                 You could do a little enhancement and

         14  lobbying and advocacy so we don't end up with 100

         15  percent high-end Mitchell-Lamas.

         16                 MS. CLARK: As you're aware, Council

         17  Member Brewer, we're very actively working in Albany

         18  seeking legislative changes in this direction. We

         19  haven't been successful as yet, but the Mayor and

         20  the Commissioner have made it a priority and I know

         21  we've had dialogue in the budget testimony where

         22  you've queried Commissioner Donovan in this regard,

         23  and we do have similar goals.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: What I'm

         25  saying is that in my neighborhood on the west side,
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          2  obviously the market rules and so the programs,

          3  which you are wonderfully advocating for in Albany,

          4  don't do us any good because people are not going to

          5  continue for 15 years when a market choice is

          6  preferable to a financing for 15 years.

          7                 So, what I'm saying is, something

          8  more creative, is there something we could do to at

          9  least keep some of these units in perpetuity

         10  affordable? That would mean working with HUD, that

         11  would mean thinking outside the box, et cetera.

         12                 MS. CLARK: Yes, we're seeking to do

         13  that, as you well know, because we have had dialogue

         14  on this subject.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. But I'm

         16  just saying with a Section 8, it's possible to

         17  perhaps use it as an ongoing subsidy for some of

         18  these units. It's something to be considered.

         19                 MS. CLARK: We'll consider it. We'll

         20  take it back to Commissioner Donovan and talk about

         21  it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The second

         23  question I have is, when a person is seeking, either

         24  I guess in most cases it's what I call regular

         25  Section 8, what is the maximum rent that an owner
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          2  can charge? I know that it's based on certain

          3  medians? And what is the maximum income that a

          4  person, individual family can have? Just so I

          5  understand what the numbers are?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          7  Generally the income that a household can have is --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Household of

          9  four? What are we talking about?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         11  It's 50 percent of area median income.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And the

         13  AMI is the same for all five boroughs?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         15  Correct.

         16                 There are some situations where they

         17  can have up to 85 percent.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's for the

         19  stickies?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         21  For the stickies it could be up to 95 percent.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right, 95

         23  percent, and I know translates to approximately

         24  $41,500 for a single person. What would the 50

         25  percent translate to for AMI, in terms of dollars?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

          3  don't have those numbers in front of me.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know what it

          5  is for the enhanced, $41,500.

          6                 The other question I have is, what is

          7  the rent maximum that a person can use their regular

          8  voucher for?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         10  Rent for each unit. HUD asks HPD to determine

         11  whether the rent proposed is reasonable, so HPD will

         12  review the rent and conduct a study to determine

         13  whether the rent is reasonable. However, we're

         14  authorized to subsidize a unit up to 110 percent of

         15  FMR, the Fair Market Rent, and that's our payment

         16  standard.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But how do you

         18  determine that? Help me understand that.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         20  How do we determine a reasonable rent?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         23  We'll look at what units in the building, comparable

         24  units went for. We'll look at the local

         25  neighborhood, what rents there, and we'll also take
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          2  rent stabilization into consideration.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, if an

          4  owner says - I'm making this up - $2,500, would that

          5  be something for a family that could be possible?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: It

          7  depends on the neighborhood.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: If the

          9  neighborhood average rent is $25,000 (sic) a month,

         10  which is what I've seen.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         12  That would exceed our payment standard and we

         13  wouldn't be allowed to subsidize a unit up to

         14  $2,500.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, do the

         16  owners sometimes, obviously, increase the rent to be

         17  able to not have your standards be applicable so

         18  that they don't have to take Section 8 quotes? Have

         19  you seen that happen?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         21  haven't really, because that would only apply at the

         22  initial stage and an applicant must find a unit and

         23  by the time I'm talking to the landlord, that means

         24  they've positively engaged with the tenant in order

         25  to lease them up.
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          2                 However, once someone is in my

          3  program, rent increases must be approved by HPD.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's easy once

          5  you're in. It's trying to get in in the first place.

          6                 All right, and how many people --

          7  maybe others have asked this -- but how many people

          8  do you think are walking around with certificates

          9  trying to get units; do you have any sense of that

         10  number?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         12  How many people currently have HPD vouchers looking

         13  for units?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right, who are

         15  looking for units, do you have any way of tracing

         16  that?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         18  don't have exactly a number on that, but we

         19  currently have probably about 500 people out with

         20  vouchers at this point.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Out with

         22  vouchers. I'm sorry, what does that mean?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         24  They currently have active vouchers, and they're in

         25  the process of leasing up, and it's unclear off the
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          2  top of my head how many of them already have located

          3  units and how many haven't.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do you think

          5  it's hard to find a unit that a Section 8 person can

          6  utilize?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          8  Well, again, the majority of our programs run to

          9  support other HPD programs, and so a lot of the

         10  tenants with HPD vouchers, are already linked to

         11  housing that's affordable. So, it is not an issue

         12  we've really seen.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         14                 Thank you very much. Please consider

         15  my suggestion for thinking outside the box with HUD

         16  regarding maintaining affordable units in perpetuity

         17  in unusual circumstances.

         18                 MS. CLARK: We'll do that. Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me take you

         21  through a few other areas now. I want to frame this

         22  again for just a second. I'm sure NYCHA is very

         23  sensitive to what's happening with low-income people

         24  in this City, but certainly you are dealing with a

         25  whole wide range of housing, you're dealing with
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          2  everything from the quality of our housing stock to

          3  what's being built, to what's going off line in

          4  terms of subsidy, so I think it's safe to say that

          5  HPD has perhaps the best overview vantage point on

          6  affordability in the City.

          7                 I mean, no one is doubting that the

          8  steady increase in rent levels is creating pressure

          9  for low-income families, and I don't hear anyone

         10  saying that there is some bright future for Section

         11  8 where we expect lots and lots more Section 8

         12  vouchers. We had some good news recently but that

         13  came after years of relatively bad news. So, I think

         14  the impetus for the hearing today is to say, do we

         15  control? Okay, at this point we don't control

         16  housing prices, per se, I'm sure you wish you could,

         17  but you don't, and there is no reason to believe

         18  they're going anywhere but up any time soon. You

         19  know, even as there has been some negative impact on

         20  the home ownership market, that seems to be

         21  reflected with increase in rent levels. So, you

         22  know, I don't think anyone is suggesting that rents

         23  are going to go down significantly in New York City

         24  any time soon. We don't control the future of the

         25  Section 8 program federally.
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          2                 So, I think a lot of us in the

          3  Council say, well, what do we control? We do control

          4  the ability to ensure there is not discrimination

          5  and, you know, that's something we just addressed in

          6  the Human Rights Commission, obviously that will be

          7  part of an ongoing discussion but that's one thing

          8  we control. A lot of us think we need to take

          9  advantage of that opportunity to do something there,

         10  but another thing we control is the ability to make

         11  the Section 8 program work within the context of New

         12  York City, and that's why we're raising all the

         13  concerns about the Administration, in the hopes that

         14  every step forward we take in the quality of the

         15  Administration means that many more people who

         16  successfully use their voucher in the allotted time,

         17  that many more landlords who participate, et cetera.

         18                 So, I just wanted to frame that, but

         19  so far nothing I've said is crazy, right? I mean, we

         20  agree we are in a real box here in terms of where

         21  the numbers are going and our ability to help people

         22  looking for affordable housing?

         23                 MS. CLARK: And, again, Council Member

         24  DeBlasio, we were asked to come today to speak about

         25  how HPD administers its Section 8 program.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

          3                 MR. CLARK: But this larger kind of

          4  oversight discussion is one that I think is entirely

          5  appropriate to have in our budget dialogue, and I

          6  know you've had this conversation publicly with

          7  Commissioner Donovan, and we have many of the same

          8  concerns at the agency, in terms of we appreciate

          9  you feel that HPD has the best vantage points to see

         10  all of these problems, we do share an understanding

         11  of the problems and want to work collectively with

         12  the Council to solve them.

         13                 For this hearing today, we really

         14  came prepared to talk about the administration of

         15  Section 8 program, which we continue to work on to

         16  improve. Improvements have been made and more

         17  improvements will be made, but the larger problem

         18  that you can Council Member Brewer, problems that

         19  you're pointing out, are ones I know you know our

         20  Commissioner and our Agency shares concerns about.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. Look, I

         22  appreciate that you're not coming in here saying

         23  there is no affordability crisis, and you're not

         24  coming in here saying Section 8 is locked down

         25  forever, no problem, and you're not saying your
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          2  system is working perfectly. I appreciate your

          3  honesty, I appreciate your willingness to try and

          4  improve the situation overall.

          5                 Let me ask you about a few other

          6  specifics.

          7                 We've heard, and I'm a member of the

          8  Technology Committee chaired by Gale Brewer, so I'm

          9  going to ask a technology question. This is a great

         10  moment for me. Gale usually gets all the technology

         11  questions. But how much have you automated your

         12  system so that landlords are able to deal with you

         13  by Internet, that you have their files at the press

         14  of a button, and the lack of automation is not the

         15  reason why some of these processes take so long?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         17  think we've made quite a few advancements. I don't

         18  think we're quite where we ultimately want to be

         19  just yet. It's a work-in-progress. We have been able

         20  to offer a lot more information electronically, so

         21  on our website we have more information available

         22  for landlords. However, the process of registering a

         23  landlord is still a paper process, and our general

         24  case files are still a paper process. However, we

         25  have reorganized those files, we've scanned more
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          2  documents, and we have a centralized database which

          3  we run out of which is a new development over the

          4  past five or six years or so, which enables us to

          5  access information much more efficiently and to

          6  respond to inquiries much more efficiently.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I'm going

          8  to press you on this point because, you know, in

          9  this Committee we've looked at a lot of entitlement

         10  programs, benefit programs that are an opportunity

         11  for people in this City to deal with poverty often

         12  times with federal resources, such as food stamps,

         13  but depending on who you listen to X hundreds of

         14  thousands of people are still not accessing the

         15  programs, and part of the problem has been the

         16  application process. It used to be a very long paper

         17  process, now it's a shorter paper process, but

         18  there's interviews, et cetera, a lot of us are

         19  trying to move toward a fully automated process, or

         20  as much as humanely possible.

         21                 I think the same can be said here. I

         22  would think for landlords, particularly you're

         23  dealing with with multiple units in the Section 8

         24  program, that if the entire transaction could be

         25  done via Internet, you would improve the situation
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          2  for everyone.

          3                 So, is there a specific plan to move

          4  with that?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

          6  agree with you completely, and actually it is

          7  something we are talking about exploring internally

          8  and formulating plans to do.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, that's a

         10  goal?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: It

         12  is a goal.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Now, I

         14  also wanted to refer to the language point that

         15  Council Member Brewer raised. I'm just not clear.

         16  So, apparently, it's obvious to all of us, there is

         17  a large number of landlords, building

         18  superintendents, others you might deal with and

         19  obviously tenants for whom English is not the first

         20  language. How much can you accommodate different

         21  languages? What's your system for doing so so that

         22  language is not yet another reason for delay?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: We

         24  have a contract in place that enables us to access

         25  translators whenever we have tenant briefings,
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          2  hearings or any other kind of meeting with a tenant,

          3  and they have limited English proficiency.

          4                 We are also in the process of

          5  translating all of our critical communication

          6  documents into Spanish and are exploring other

          7  languages that may be needed for this as well. And

          8  we also have a contract in place that enables us to

          9  have translation services via phone when needed,

         10  when we're on the phone with a client. So, we are

         11  working hard on this front.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And that would

         13  be true for, if you're talking about a landlord, or

         14  an employee of a landlord, a tenant, the whole

         15  range?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         17  Any clients that we're dealing with.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And let me just

         19  ask a real world question. I mean, have you found

         20  that that works in practice? In other words, have

         21  you found that that's available when you need it and

         22  it's effective?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: We

         24  have had pretty smooth coordination in having

         25  translators available to us when needed, and when
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          2  it's not possible, we make every accommodation to

          3  reschedule so that we can make sure the business

          4  needs to get done, gets done effectively.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Now, let

          6  me ask a blunt and negative question. How often do

          7  we fail in various categories?

          8                 How many people you said that the

          9  number of folks in December '05, tenants with

         10  overdue recertifications was 4,300. You've cut that

         11  in half.

         12                 Go through the categories, if tenants

         13  were not able to use vouchers, apartments that are

         14  not inspected, what can you tell us about how often

         15  we're not completing the equation and therefore not

         16  getting a voucher used effectively or in a timely

         17  basis.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         19  can't give you lots of statistics on that right now.

         20  That's something you would have to go back and pull

         21  some research on for you, and we're happy to do

         22  that. But generally I think we reduce the number of

         23  overdue recertifications by 75 percent in that year

         24  and it has gone down even more since that point.

         25                 As I mentioned, we're at 97 percent
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          2  compliance with HUD's reporting rate requirements.

          3  That means that 97 percent of the tenants on our

          4  program are able to report on fully, via an HQS

          5  inspection, via recertification, that means that we

          6  are utilizing their vouchers fully.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me ask it

          8  again. How many vouchers at this moment are not

          9  being utilized within the time frame, within the

         10  allowable time frame?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         12  How many vouchers expire before --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Correct.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

         15  will have to get back to you on that. Those numbers

         16  have changed.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I always try

         18  and respect the fact that people have to come here

         19  and have a lot of information at their fingertips,

         20  that's a real basic question, and I want to throw

         21  down the caution flag on that. I mean, that's one of

         22  the central points of this hearing today is to

         23  understand how many people lose the opportunity to

         24  use a voucher because of whatever number of factors

         25  run the time clock out. And, again, I bet the rental
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          2  market alone, making fewer and fewer units within

          3  the allowable rental range is part of that. And I

          4  don't know if you've done any study of that topic. I

          5  have mentioned some of the studies up front that

          6  others have done. I don't know if you have a study

          7  of that topic. I should ask you that. Have you

          8  studied the patterns in rental markets to see how

          9  much the total number of available units have

         10  declined because of increasing rent levels?

         11                 MS. CLARK: Yes. We do the Housing

         12  Quality Survey, as you know, the Housing Vacancy

         13  Survey, so that we're an active participant in the

         14  studies and keep an eye on this question. But we're

         15  also quite familiar with the other studies that you

         16  mentioned at the opening of the hearing, and are

         17  cognizant of the issues that you raise.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you believe

         19  those are accurate, those community service society

         20  studies?

         21                 MS. CLARK: I'm certainly not

         22  qualified to answer that question on behalf of the

         23  agency but we would certainly get back to you with

         24  an answer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Again, we all
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          2  want to work together, but this is exactly the

          3  picture we're trying to paint here and understand in

          4  common, is if you agree that fewer and fewer units

          5  are within Section 8, you know, the economic levels

          6  of Section 8, and if you agree that a significant

          7  number of vouchers are not being utilized within the

          8  appropriate time frame, we need to understand those

          9  numbers, understand what the pressure is that that's

         10  putting on low-income folks and how many vouchers

         11  are actually usable at any given moment in the

         12  actual rental market.

         13                 Let's talk about the economics that

         14  affect landlords. What happens between the time --

         15  well, let's first ask, how long does it take you to

         16  approve a rent increase for an individual unit?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: We

         18  request that landlords submit a rent increase

         19  request 60 days prior to the effective date?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Mm-hmm.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         22  And we are able generally to review it and approve

         23  it, if it's reasonable, and reject it if it's not

         24  reasonable within that time frame.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, we have
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          2  heard a number of reports, and, again, my first

          3  hearing on this was three years ago, so we've had a

          4  lot of interaction with tenants, landlords, et

          5  cetera, we've heard a number of reports that in fact

          6  that time frame can drag out for quite a period of

          7  time, and that's one of the specific concerns a lot

          8  of landlords have had, that there is a valid right

          9  to a rent increase and the actual processing takes

         10  much longer. So, can you give us a sense of what the

         11  average time line is, what the range is? And most

         12  especially, what happens financially to the landlord

         13  that are waiting for that increase, how are they

         14  compensated, once you do agree to the increase?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         16  Like I said, we ask for the request to come in 60

         17  days before. We're generally able to process it

         18  within 60 days. If there is some issue where HPD is

         19  unable to process it but the request was complete

         20  and approvable within that time, generally the

         21  landlord would not lose money and there may be an

         22  additional delay in that situation but we would be

         23  able to compensate retroactively.

         24                 I think that we have seen more

         25  situations where there is an issue with the proposed
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          2  rent amount, and that can cause increased delays or

          3  outstanding issues.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Can you give us

          5  any numbers on what percentage get handled within --

          6  I mean, again, you asked for the request two months

          7  before it will take effect; is that correct? So how

          8  many will be handled within the two-month time

          9  frame?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: At

         11  this point the majority are being handled within

         12  that time. I don't have an exact percentage. And it

         13  is fair to say that we have improved significantly

         14  on this over the past year or so, so the numbers

         15  would be different.

         16                 We've also just begun to closely

         17  track this data. I don't have statistics readily

         18  available but I will in the future.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. We'll do

         20  a follow-up letter to you with a number of these

         21  questions. I think this is a crucial one. I mean, I

         22  appreciate that a majority are being handled within

         23  the appropriate time frame. But you know, I think on

         24  just a cash flow level, it's bad enough if someone

         25  has a legitimate right to a certain level of rent,

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  and are not getting it when it should be happening.

          3  It's good if it gets compensated down the line, but

          4  it can be a very different issue if it's compensated

          5  down the line or six months down the line or a year

          6  down the line in terms of actual cash flow

          7  particularly for smaller buildings.

          8                 So, I think what we would be

          9  interested to understand is the actual numerical

         10  breakout, how many get handled the day the rent

         11  increase is supposed to take effect, how many get

         12  handled within a month, within two months, six

         13  months, and then what are you doing upon ensuring,

         14  upon determining that there should be an increase,

         15  how quickly do you turn it around, and, again, how

         16  automated is that system so that you're quickly

         17  getting the resources in the hand of a landlord who

         18  deserve it?

         19                 We want the ideal, and I'm going to

         20  state it again, we want the ideal that it's never

         21  about the administrative and the processing issues,

         22  that any landlord looking at participation in the

         23  Section 8 program is looking at a program that

         24  functions and there is no question about the ability

         25  to use it seemlessly.
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          2                 MS. CLARK: We'll look forward to

          3  getting your follow-up letter and continuing the

          4  dialogue along these lines.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very good.

          6                 Let me see if any of my colleagues

          7  have questions. Go ahead, Gale.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The question I

          9  have is, I know obviously in a stabilized unit the

         10  rent goes up according to the rent guidelines, and

         11  are other requests based on under six units? Or what

         12  would be their request for increase? If it's just

         13  the Rent Guidelines Board does the Section 8 owner

         14  have to go through you in order to get that

         15  increase?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         17  Yes, they do. Once the participant is on our

         18  program, if the landlord would like to increase the

         19  rent they may request a rent increase one time per

         20  year, depending on the term of the lease of course.

         21  HPD must deem the proposed rent amount to be

         22  reasonable and must approve it. And HPD is not

         23  authorized to subsidize a rent that exceeds the

         24  payment standard.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You don't know
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          2  how many of your units -- your units are not

          3  governed by the Rent Guidelines Board?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          5  They're not. But we do take the Rent Guidelines

          6  Board into consideration, and we look at that data

          7  and information in determining what a reasonable

          8  rent increase would be.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, you're

         10  saying, even if you're in a stabilized building, the

         11  rents that are applicable to those who receive

         12  Section 8 are not the same as the increases, unless

         13  you determine them to be as such as the Rent

         14  Guidelines Board?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         16  I'm sorry, I misunderstood your question. That's

         17  true, we could say that a rent is not reasonable;

         18  however, I don't believe we've done that because

         19  we've generally, you know, deemed the Rent

         20  Guidelines Board rent increase amounts to be

         21  reasonable.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's confusing

         23  to me. But --

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: We

         25  would not approve a rent that exceeds that amount.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right. So, my

          3  question, do you know if there is some way of tying

          4  it to the Rent Guidelines Board, or is that not

          5  appropriate, and that would be easier for the owners

          6  and for you, if, in fact, the building is

          7  stabilized?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          9  I'm sorry, I'm not totally understanding.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I guess

         11  because I'm immersed in rent issues, you know, up to

         12  here.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         14  Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do you know

         16  what a stabilized building is?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         18  Yes, I do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. In that

         20  situation, if you have a voucher, and if that

         21  building goes up according to the Rent Guidelines

         22  Board, do your tenants in that building go up the

         23  same percentage?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         25  Yes, they do.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, if that's

          3  the case, why couldn't it be streamlined, again,

          4  technology-wise, to go up the same as everybody else

          5  in the building? Even though others may not have a

          6  voucher?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: I

          8  only have jurisdiction over tenants with a voucher,

          9  and HUD requires me to determine that a rent is

         10  reasonable and to conduct a case-by-case

         11  reasonability assessment.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. I'm

         13  saying it could be streamlined with Rent Guidelines

         14  Board, that's all I'm saying.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: We

         16  can certainly look into better coordination.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me ask one

         20  more question.

         21                 There is obviously a concern that

         22  when there is any kind of violation found, that adds

         23  further complication to this process. I'm sure no

         24  one wants less complication more than you. But we're

         25  trying to understand what you're doing to clarify
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          2  what's the responsibilities of the tenant, what's

          3  the responsibilities of the landlord, so when you

          4  find a violation, I assume one of the first things

          5  you have to do is figure out who caused it. How do

          6  you do that?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          8  Our administrative plan, which is our governing

          9  document, basically outlined what's a tenant-caused

         10  failure and what's a landlord-caused failure, and I

         11  don't have our inspection checklist in front of us,

         12  but they're already -- they're pretty

         13  straightforward. And then we communicate accordingly

         14  to both parties.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then what

         16  do you do in terms of just normal wear-n-tear? How

         17  do you determine what is acceptable that should be

         18  something a landlord covers? How do you determine

         19  whether a tenant has caused undue amount of

         20  wear-n-tear that would cause additional cost to the

         21  landlord, how do you go about that?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         23  Right. I think we look at every apartment on a

         24  case-by-case basis. Clearly, if the landlord has

         25  just renovated a kitchen and we come and inspect two
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          2  months later, and it's a mess, that wouldn't be

          3  deemed to be normal wear-n-tear. You know, we have

          4  guidelines and we use those guidelines to make that

          5  assessment.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And how do you

          7  follow-up in each case, if you believe a violation

          8  is the tenant's responsibility, if you believe a

          9  violation is the landlord's responsibility, how do

         10  you economically follow-up in each case?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS: We

         12  do when it's a landlord's responsibility, we send a

         13  notice with the landlord and the tenant, letting

         14  them know that the unit has failed and for what the

         15  reasons are that they failed. And we automatically

         16  reinspect the apartment in approximately 30 days.

         17                 After that point, if the unit passes,

         18  then there is no issue and the subsidy continues

         19  uninterrupted. If the unit fails then the subsidy

         20  will be suspended and it is the landlord's

         21  obligation to notify us once the repairs are made so

         22  we can confirm that, via reinspection.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And if you find

         24  that a violation is the cause of the tenant and is

         25  not resolved, if it continues, in effect, what do
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          2  you do?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          4  Sure. When we inspect and it's the tenant, we again

          5  send notice to both the landlord and the tenant

          6  notifying them of the failure items and their

          7  obligation to correct the areas under their

          8  responsibility.

          9                 We still automatically reinspect. If

         10  after the second inspection it continues to be a

         11  failure, we then send another notice to the tenant

         12  informing them that their subsidy is in jeopardy,

         13  and HUD would obligate us to terminate the client

         14  who is responsible for the unit not meeting housing

         15  quality standards.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then what

         17  happens ultimately to resolve that violation?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         19  Well, two things can happen. It doesn't get resolved

         20  and the tenant is terminated. But what we hope

         21  happens, and this is one of the reasons we have

         22  contracts with community-based organizations,

         23  because we would make a referral at that point,

         24  especially if the client is elderly or disabled or

         25  has other special needs. We would make a referral to
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          2  one of our community-based organizations and ask

          3  them to assist this tenant in resolving their

          4  outstanding housing quality standard issues, so that

          5  there would not be an interruption in subsidy or so

          6  that their subsidy is not jeopardized.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But if the

          8  issue isn't addressed, I mean if the issue is not

          9  addressed by a tenant, they're no longer in the

         10  program.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         12  Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If an issue is

         14  not addressed by a landlord, I assume at a certain

         15  point you don't keep them in the program?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         17  Well, the subsidy is suspended and after a certain

         18  point, you know, we at that point offer the tenant

         19  the opportunity to move, if they so choose to, to a

         20  unit that is eligible. After, I believe it's 90

         21  days, if the tenant does not choose to exercise

         22  their move option and the landlord doesn't make

         23  repairs, HUD directs us to terminate from the

         24  program.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What if there
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          2  is a violation caused by a tenant that is not

          3  resolved, and then the tenant leaves or the tenant

          4  is suspended, who ends up paying for the resolution

          5  of that?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

          7  No, the tenant would be ultimately terminated from

          8  our program if we were not able to resolve that, and

          9  both the landlord and the tenant get a minimum of 30

         10  days notice of this to happen.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But who

         12  actually pays for the repairs needed, if they were

         13  needed?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         15  That would be covered between the landlord and the

         16  tenant per the terms of their lease.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, a security

         18  deposit or whatever it might be, okay.

         19                 Okay, I think we've covered a number

         20  of issues. We will follow-up with you. We are very

         21  much, and I will make this real clear, very much

         22  concerned to have a chart of the numbers and get a

         23  sense of how things are working overall, particular

         24  focus on the amount of vouchers not being utilized

         25  within the time frame and what is causing that, a
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          2  particular focus on the total number of units that

          3  are Section 8 eligible now, and it would be very

          4  helpful to see that in relation to recent years, to

          5  see if the common sense assumption is that that

          6  number is going down is correct.

          7                 And also your specific response to

          8  the CSS study would be helpful. I don't think you've

          9  gotten a chance to see ACORN's recent study that

         10  just came out, but we will send that to you as well,

         11  and we would like to see a response to that. All of

         12  that would be very helpful.

         13                 Thank you very much for being here

         14  today. We appreciate your testimony.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ZAFIRIADIS:

         16  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If I keep this

         18  up, we're going to go through every agency of the

         19  City government by 5:00 p.m.

         20                 Okay, we now welcome NYCHA. Greg

         21  Kern, Director of Leased Housing, and Felix Lam, the

         22  Deputy General Manager for Finance.

         23                 You will be pleased to know, my

         24  friends from NYCHA, that because I have been

         25  informed we have a time limit on this room of 1:00,
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          2  we welcome you to summarize, and if there's items

          3  you believe were amply covered by HPD, or Human

          4  Rights already, you don't need to repeat them. So,

          5  whatever you feel is new to contribute, we welcome.

          6                 MR. KERN: Thank you, and good

          7  morning, Chairman DeBlasio and members of the

          8  Committee. I am Greg Kern, Director of New York City

          9  Housing Authority's Section 8 Leased Housing

         10  Program. Felix Lam, Deputy General Manager for

         11  Finance is with me. I'm pleased to be here to

         12  provide the Committee with an overview, a concise

         13  overview of NYCHA's Section 8 Program.

         14                 NYCHA operates the largest Section 8

         15  Program in the nation, serving approximately 214,000

         16  New Yorkers, using nearly 83,000 vouchers to rent

         17  apartments in the private market for more than

         18  29,000 participating landlords.

         19                 Our sister agency HPD, as they have

         20  said, operate at least 26,000 vouchers also within

         21  the City, including many project-based assistant

         22  vouchers.

         23                 This past January, NYCHA's Chairman

         24  Tino Hernandez and Mayor Bloomberg announced that

         25  the Housing Authority would be providing an
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          2  additional 22,000 very low-income families, that's

          3  roughly 70,000 New Yorkers, with opportunities to

          4  live in affordable housing in neighborhoods across

          5  the City.

          6                 Under this effort we will distribute

          7  12,000 vouchers for rentals this year, and 10,000

          8  next year. To ensure we have a large enough pool of

          9  applicants, we reopened our Section 8 waiting list

         10  for the first time in 12 years.

         11                 NYCHA continues to improve our

         12  Section 8 program, in large part to attract

         13  landlords. Let me describe some of the improvements

         14  we have implemented to encourage landlord

         15  participation.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:

         17  Sergeant-At-Arms, could you please get that light

         18  back on? We're going in the wrong direction here.

         19  There is another set of lights. Thank you. Whoever

         20  has been bumping into the lights, if you could

         21  refrain, it would be deeply appreciated.

         22                 Please continue.

         23                 MR. KERN: So, as far as improvements

         24  we've recently implemented, prior to a rental and

         25  move in, a potential Section 8 apartment must pass
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          2  an inspection. NYCHA has implemented a streamlined

          3  apartment inspection system, whereby hand-held

          4  computers and expedited approval process are

          5  bringing new units into the program more quickly.

          6                 The average time between a landlord's

          7  request for an inspection, and an inspector's

          8  appearance, is now less than 12 calendar days. The

          9  approval process for new rentals or transfers from

         10  one apartment to another, is now less than one

         11  month.

         12                 The computerized system has also made

         13  annual inspections of occupied apartments faster,

         14  and more efficient. This allows landlords more time

         15  to make repairs if violations are found.

         16                 The number of suspensions of subsidy

         17  payments to landlords due to failure to repair

         18  violations, has also been greatly reduced. Today 50

         19  percent of the repairs roughly are accomplished

         20  without suspension. As a result of these efforts,

         21  numerous landlords are referring hundreds of their

         22  vacant apartments to Section 8 voucher holders.

         23                 We have also implemented other

         24  strategies to increase the number of landlords who

         25  participate in Section 8. These include scheduling
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          2  regular briefings where we explain the operation of

          3  the program to the landlords. We are also posting

          4  apartment listings on our website, which allows

          5  voucher holders an opportunity to check listings at

          6  any time for leads on available apartments.

          7                 In addition, we are also proposing to

          8  provide landlords with an electronic funds transfer

          9  option, to speed up payment of their subsidy. As a

         10  result, the information available to us indicates

         11  that landlords with available apartments generally

         12  want to participate in the Section 8 program.

         13                 Nevertheless, as successful as the

         14  City's Section 8 program is, demand for vouchers

         15  exceeds the supply. With the reopening of our

         16  waiting list, as of April 5th, 2007, we had received

         17  184,284 new Section 8 applications. There are many

         18  thousands more applications than there are vouchers.

         19  This is a reflection of the enormously tight real

         20  estate market in New York, especially for apartments

         21  renting for under $800, where we believe the vacancy

         22  rate is less than two percent.

         23                 That is why NYCHA is working

         24  diligently to attract and retain as many landlords

         25  as possible in our Section 8 program. Section 8 is
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          2  an important resource for New York City families. It

          3  is another avenue for those seeking affordable

          4  housing across the City.

          5                 Let me conclude my remarks here, and

          6  I will be happy to answer any questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You get an

          8  award for brevity right away. We appreciate that.

          9                 And very much appreciate -- hold on.

         10  Hold on. Could I ask who is causing that? Sergeant,

         11  could you please secure the lights? I've never had

         12  this happen at a hearing before. Okay, whoever is

         13  near the lights, just please move away. Okay.

         14                 I want to thank you for a lot of the

         15  good work you've done to streamline the program, and

         16  I think some of the numbers you've given us here are

         17  very, very impressive, and obviously you have done a

         18  lot in terms of automation to improve the program.

         19                 Let me take you to a couple quick

         20  overview questions. Not that I want to pit agency

         21  against agency, but I do think accuracy matters. Our

         22  friends at the Human Rights Commission quote your

         23  agency as saying, "There are no shortage of

         24  landlords willing to participate in the Section 8

         25  program. I have to say that didn't ring entirely
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          2  true to me. Not that there aren't a lot of landlords

          3  willing to participate, but I'm not sure there is

          4  not a shortage in the sense of the reality of trying

          5  to make sure as many vouchers are used as quickly as

          6  possible, especially with the rental market going in

          7  the direction it's going.

          8                 So, can you quantify how many

          9  landlords you currently are working with and whether

         10  you believe that is enough?

         11                 MR. KERN: Well, right now we have

         12  about 29,300 participating in the program. That is

         13  enough for the size program that we presently have.

         14  Now, with all the readying that we plan to be doing

         15  this year and next year at least for the pipeline

         16  that we have already started, we will need quite a

         17  few more landlords than that. So, we have to be able

         18  to attract more that will be willing to participate

         19  and willing to rent to our voucher holders as those

         20  voucher holders find them in their search.

         21                 We believe based on our historical

         22  experience that there will be enough landlords out

         23  there with enough apartments that are going to be

         24  available.

         25                 Now, we say that from our historical
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          2  experience, in that in past years when we have been

          3  renting at the same volume that we seek to be

          4  renting at now, we have been able to do it. I'm

          5  speaking of specifically 2002 and 2003, where we

          6  rented about 12,000 units both of those years.

          7  That's approximately our target for this year.

          8                 There were enough apartments

          9  available then. It is really too early for me to

         10  definitively say this time around with this new

         11  pipeline that we are starting whether there will be

         12  enough supply, enough landlords willing to

         13  participate.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But I hear two

         15  immediate challenges. One is, you need not only new

         16  landlords and new units, but you also need everyone

         17  you currently have to stay in the program. So, there

         18  is a challenge right there that you have to

         19  maintain, and it sounds like, again, you're doing

         20  good customer service and all that, but you have to

         21  keep your current number of landlords and then add.

         22                 MR. KERN: Yes, absolutely.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, and

         24  second, again, if you have specific statistics, it

         25  would help us a lot. We're working from the
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          2  assumption that the super heated rental market is

          3  taking some units out of range and that, and we're

          4  only building so many more units, and obviously our

          5  population is growing, there's a lot of pressures

          6  here, so that you may have units that are currently

          7  available to you that might not be in a brief period

          8  of time.

          9                 And, so, I'm just trying to say, I

         10  think you have answered the question by saying you

         11  are not necessarily sure you'll have enough going

         12  forward, but do you have anything to definitively

         13  say where you see the market going and what impact

         14  it's having on your ability to administer this

         15  program?

         16                 MR. KERN: Well, so far in this realm

         17  of the pipeline, with the rentals we have in place

         18  and are seeking now, we have not been hearing, our

         19  staff have not been getting feedback from voucher

         20  holders or tenants in the program to the effect that

         21  landlords are unwilling to participate.

         22                 Generally, the voucher holders have

         23  been able to find apartments at about the same rate

         24  that they have in the past, which for us has been

         25  what we call a success rate of 65 to 70 percent,
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          2  that is out of all the voucher holders who start a

          3  search, about that many will successfully rent over

          4  a period of time.

          5                 The voucher is issued for six months,

          6  so that period of time is usually within six months

          7  but we do permit extensions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And how does

          9  that compare to other jurisdictions of other large

         10  cities, that success rate; do you have a sense of

         11  that?

         12                 MR. KERN: I think it is relatively

         13  comparable. There may be some housing agencies that

         14  are a little higher than that. Certainly I know

         15  there are some that are lower.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And,

         17  again, I know your purpose in being here today is to

         18  talk about the administration of the program. I

         19  would just note, I would welcome you taking a look

         20  at the HUD study that we referenced earlier, the

         21  2001 study that suggested that where changes in the

         22  law were made to specifically ensure there was not

         23  discrimination, that that did help in the

         24  utilization rate, and I think you should see if that

         25  has some pertinence to this debate.
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          2                 Now, your success rate, has that

          3  changed substantially in recent years?

          4                 MR. KERN: No. It has been pretty

          5  consistent, right around that range.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then I

          7  think when NYCHA testified at the 2004 hearing we

          8  had on this bill, it was on the upper end of that

          9  range, around 70 percent, I would be very interested

         10  to understand your breakout of the remaining 30

         11  percent. What are the causes of the failure of the

         12  remaining 30 percent, and again, what does that mean

         13  numerically? What is the total number of people that

         14  make up that 30 percent that don't succeed?

         15                 MR. KERN: Well, if we say we're

         16  targeting 12,000 rentals, that means we will be

         17  issuing approximately, let's say for easy math,

         18  15,000 vouchers. So, there would be, we would

         19  expect, if the normal range is retained, that about

         20  3,000 voucher holders would not succeed in rent.

         21  They would have the option to reapply and start over

         22  if they want, many of them choose to do other

         23  things. So, we don't necessarily know what happens

         24  to all of those cases. But that's about how many we

         25  would think we would be talking --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: When they

          3  apply, again, if they choose to, they're not at the

          4  top of the list.

          5                 MR. KERN: Right. Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So,

          7  realistically, that's a long shot.

          8                 Now, can you just break out in that

          9  30 percent or that 35 percent what the causes are? I

         10  mean, obviously the time clock has run out, but have

         11  you done studies to understand why and what

         12  happened?

         13                 MR. KERN: Yes. We don't have specific

         14  numbers on each one, but I can go through what we

         15  believe are the most likely reasons why voucher

         16  holders would not succeed in renting.

         17                 Some of them do not conduct a full

         18  search, and what I mean by that is, either they have

         19  a target neighborhood and they only want to look in

         20  that neighborhood, if they don't find something in

         21  that neighborhood, they are not willing to expand

         22  their search to other parts of the City, or they

         23  just don't really make a bona fide effort to search.

         24  There are some people who just don't understand what

         25  that means as far as looking through all the various
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          2  sources and going out and physically trying to find

          3  apartments and landlords. Some people give up too

          4  quickly.

          5                 Another explanation, maybe the one we

          6  worry the most about today, is the rent limits. As

          7  you said, as HPD has said, we are limited in the

          8  ceiling rent to which we could subsidize by the HUD

          9  fair market rents. And, so, those rents don't work

         10  in all the neighborhoods in New York City. So, there

         11  are some neighborhoods where our voucher holders are

         12  just not likely to succeed, or they may or may not

         13  succeed, because of the prevailing rent levels in

         14  those neighborhoods.

         15                 Another issue is inspection, the

         16  quality of the units, in that the apartment that the

         17  voucher holder finds must pass our inspection. So,

         18  there are always a certain number of apartments that

         19  fail inspection, and then the landlord is not

         20  willing to make the repairs. In many cases the

         21  landlord will make the repairs, then we can go ahead

         22  with the rent.

         23                 Another situation is the voucher

         24  holder finds an apartment that the voucher holder

         25  wants and perhaps the rents would work, perhaps the
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          2  unit would pass inspection but we never get to that

          3  because the landlord chooses not to rent to the

          4  voucher holder.

          5                 Now, that can be for any number of

          6  reasons, any legal reason really, under New York

          7  State law, as to whatever screening the landlord

          8  chose to do that is legitimate for any other

          9  potential tenant.

         10                 So, the landlord, the voucher holder

         11  may just not be able to find a landlord who is

         12  willing to rent to him or her. Then there is some

         13  voucher holders simply change their minds as they go

         14  along. Other, they have other options that become

         15  available to them over the course of the whole

         16  voucher search period, so that they simply change

         17  their minds.

         18                 And then the last category would be

         19  those who simply, despite a bona fide search, are

         20  not able to find anything.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I

         22  appreciate you laying out those categories and

         23  certainly makes clear the challenge and your

         24  recognition that the rental market is only making it

         25  harder.
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          2                 You know, again, we will have

          3  follow-up discussions on what I'm concerned about,

          4  as well, which is the possibility of discrimination

          5  in the mix here, and whether we do need some legal

          6  changes to clarify or to add protections.

          7                 But let me ask you this: In your

          8  current administration, how do you support a tenant

          9  so that they maximize their chances of success? For

         10  example, you talked about people who weren't

         11  necessarily familiar with how to go about how to a

         12  search properly, didn't necessarily understand the

         13  strategic approach that might be smartest given the

         14  time clock running. Do you, in effect, provide

         15  strategic advice? Do you provide counseling so that

         16  when someone gets that voucher in their hand they're

         17  really given a good set of instructions on how to

         18  best use it?

         19                 MR. KERN: We start out with a

         20  briefing which is a group process where the voucher

         21  holders are invited, they must attend, and they

         22  actually receive their voucher at the briefing.

         23                 We advise them at that time, we

         24  advise them of a number of things and give them a

         25  number of documents so that we get them started.
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          2  Then we have staff assigned to each voucher holder

          3  so there is a resource for the voucher holder to

          4  consult as the search process goes along.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And that

          6  someone is readily available if they have questions?

          7                 MR. KERN: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          9  Obviously, I think that is something that again we

         10  should look at going forward, how to enhance that

         11  process. I would think that kind of support could be

         12  crucial to helping someone be successful.

         13                 Let me just ask a few other quick

         14  things. Again, you've opened up with some very

         15  impressive numbers about how quickly you're able to

         16  do inspections, and how quickly you're doing repairs

         17  or effectively doing repairs, and obviously we're

         18  thrilled to hear some of your efforts towards

         19  automation.

         20                 Let me ask you about the things that

         21  I asked HPD, when things don't work, how many

         22  inspections do you have annually where there is

         23  violations that have to be resolved and where cases

         24  of Section 8 payments have to be suspended to

         25  landlords?
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          2                 MR. KERN: We're talking about current

          3  tenants now, tenants in the program?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

          5                 MR. KERN: Okay. We do annual

          6  inspections of course, meaning within a 12-month

          7  cycle from a previous inspection. We use the Housing

          8  Quality Standards, our inspectors conduct those

          9  inspections according to the checklist and according

         10  to their experience.  In observing conditions, we

         11  attempt to be as reasonable as possible in terms of

         12  assessing what are the conditions that meet the

         13  standards, versus those that don't meet those

         14  standards.

         15                 Apartments that fail the standards

         16  are then treated through a notice process, as we

         17  have a formal notice that we send to the landlord,

         18  and those are available now within just a few days

         19  after the inspection, so that the landlord has the

         20  maximum time to do the inspections before we would

         21  have to suspend subsidy. Our policy on that is that

         22  from the date of inspection, the landlord has 30

         23  days to do the necessary repairs. If not, and we

         24  also have to verify that the repairs are done, and

         25  if not, we will suspend the subsidy. That then is

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  subject to reinstatement, we call it, if the

          3  landlord subsequently does the repairs, which often

          4  happens.

          5                 We do have quite a few units at any

          6  given time that are on the suspended status.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Can you give us

          8  a sense, just if you can use 2006, 2005, whatever

          9  you have, what would be a total for a year?

         10                 MR. KERN: I would say on a monthly

         11  average at any given time between 3,500 to 4,000

         12  apartments are suspended for that reason.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: A substantial

         14  number?

         15                 MR. KERN: It's a pretty low

         16  percentage of the total pool, so I don't see it as a

         17  substantial number, although it leads to

         18  complications if the repairs are not done.

         19                 We will eventually offer the tenants

         20  transfer vouchers if the repairs are not done. But

         21  it is the tenant's choice whether to move or not.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And can you, in

         23  any way, typify what percentage of the violations

         24  are caused by landlords versus caused by tenants?

         25                 MR. KERN: Most of our violations are
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          2  landlord violations. We do have specific violations

          3  that are identified as tenant-caused, or that may be

          4  tenant-caused, depending upon the nature.

          5                 So, we have a process whereby the

          6  landlord can be given the opportunity after he does

          7  the repairs. We have to insist the repairs be done

          8  first, regardless of the origin of them. But after

          9  that, he can submit evidence to us to try to prove

         10  to a reasonable level that the damage was tenant

         11  caused. And if we accept that, then we will

         12  reimburse the landlord for the subsidy that was

         13  suspended for that violation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, and,

         15  finally, just trying to get a sense, again, of these

         16  overall numbers, how do your recent numbers compare

         17  to previous years? Has the number of violations, the

         18  number of suspensions of payment gone up, down,

         19  similar?

         20                 MR. KERN: It has gone up and down

         21  within a relatively small range. I would say the

         22  failure rate is typically, out of all the

         23  inspections we do, the apartment fails between about

         24  18 and 24 percent of the time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And, finally,
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          2  in a year or a month, however you want to do it, how

          3  many landlords typically have payments suspended and

          4  how many tenants are no longer allowed to continue

          5  in the Section 8 program? Can you give us a sense of

          6  what the failure rate is in terms of actual ability

          7  to continue participating?

          8                 MR. KERN: There are some number of

          9  the landlords whose apartments are suspended who

         10  don't do the repairs, and then after six months, if

         11  repairs are not completed after six consecutive

         12  months of subsidy, we will terminate the rental

         13  arrangement.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And how many

         15  landlords a year would you say that occurred to

         16  roughly?

         17                 MR. KERN: I think last year it was

         18  close to 1,000. I don't remember the number offhand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And on the

         20  tenant side, how many had their voucher revoked or

         21  suspended?

         22                 MR. KERN: We will terminate vouchers

         23  for many other types of reasons which could be

         24  failure to recertify, their income becomes over the

         25  federal limits, or serious lease violations, or they
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          2  just choose to move out.

          3                 We will probably 6,500 to 7,000 over

          4  the course of this year, based on, that's our

          5  projection based on past years.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And is it the

          7  moment a voucher is revoked you put it back into the

          8  pool and recycle it in effect?

          9                 MR. KERN: Yes. We are trying to

         10  replace that with a new rental just as quickly as we

         11  can.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Any sense of

         13  what the time line is typically for that?

         14                 MR. KERN: It's ongoing, in the sense

         15  that we're assuming, as we go along, that there will

         16  be a certain number of terminations, and so we have

         17  a rental pipeline following that with a certain

         18  number of new voucher holders.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is there an

         20  operational standard or goal by which one person

         21  goes off line and another person goes on line, gets

         22  formerly certified to take the new voucher, et

         23  cetera?

         24                 MR. KERN: Yes. That depends on how

         25  much money we have.
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          2                 The HUD budget per the Congressional

          3  appropriation determines whether we can grow by

          4  having more rentals than turnover, or whether we

          5  have to stay about the same.

          6                 Right now we're in a growth mode. So,

          7  with the 12,000 rentals I mentioned this year, and

          8  10,000 more next year, that exceeds the estimated

          9  turnover that I was mentioned of about 7,000. So,

         10  we're looking to grow because we believe we have the

         11  budget for it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         13  Brewer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. And

         15  also, thank you, Greg, for all your responses and

         16  for Margaret, because she's very responsive, and we

         17  thank you for that.

         18                 My question is, how many Section 8

         19  holders reside in rent stabilized apartments or

         20  non-regulated? And I guess it's sort of up to where

         21  one can find an apartment, but do you have any sense

         22  of that?

         23                 MR. KERN: About two-thirds of our

         24  program is currently with rent-stabilized buildings.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And the
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          2  balance is not?

          3                 MR. KERN: Almost all of the balance

          4  is with one- to five-family buildings that are not

          5  regulated.

          6                 There are a few other miscellaneous

          7  types.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. And

          9  do you have the same process that HPD described

         10  where you have to figure out what the new rent is in

         11  the 60 days and so on, in terms of rent increases

         12  from the landlord?

         13                 MR. KERN: Yes. In that we have the

         14  same reasonabless rules from HUD that we have to

         15  follow. So, I was mentioning that there is the

         16  fairmarket rent ceiling limit to how high we can

         17  subsidize the rent. But we have to determine within

         18  that whether the proposed rent is reasonable by

         19  standards, and basically we also are looking at the

         20  neighborhood market levels for comparable

         21  non-assisted units, as officially what HUD tells us

         22  to look at.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: How do you

         24  coordinate with HPD? I know that you have been

         25  working with enhanced, HPD worked previously with
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          2  enhanced; so how do you coordinate in general with

          3  HPD on either the enhanced or what I call the

          4  regular?

          5                 In other words, are you still working

          6  in the enhanced in terms of the Mitchell-Lamas?

          7                 MR. KERN: We have some now. Just in

          8  the last few years --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm aware.

         10  Don't forget, I've got 100,000 hours on this issue.

         11                 MR. KERN: We have some number of

         12  Mitchell-Lamas that are in the rental process with

         13  vouchers, where we've received the special funding

         14  from HUD, earmarked just for those sites.

         15                 We also, every year, get I'll say

         16  five or six or seven properties from HUD that are

         17  what we call project based conversions, where owners

         18  who have had project-based Section 8 directly from

         19  HUD, without involving any other agency, through

         20  long-term contracts that are expiring, are choosing

         21  to opt out of those sites and at that point HUD is

         22  awarding us individual vouchers for individual

         23  tenants earmarked for those tenants in those sites,

         24  so that we can replace the assistance that is

         25  ending.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So then you

          3  can help them move to alternative sites with their

          4  -- that case voucher?

          5                 MR. KERN: Yes. Actually, most of them

          6  choose to stay, and the intent is that they will

          7  stay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Good.

          9                 MR. KERN: But it is a tenant-based

         10  voucher, so they can go elsewhere.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 And then just finally, what is your

         13  experience in terms of when people need assistance

         14  other than what you can provide?

         15                 I notice that HPD contracts with

         16  three other outside organizations; do you feel

         17  that's necessary? Is that something you do? Are you

         18  able to answer questions internally? Obviously, I

         19  know you have a broad language-base in terms of your

         20  staff.

         21                 MR. KERN: Yes. I believe we can

         22  handle the language issue. We have, I mentioned at

         23  the briefings for rentals we have a whole powerpoint

         24  presentation and we have the hard copy of that

         25  available, translated into other languages. So,

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  people who want to have that to a system and

          3  understanding can get that.

          4                 As far as search assistance per se, I

          5  was saying we have individual staff that are

          6  assigned to the voucher holders when they first

          7  start the search process, to provide whatever

          8  referral assistance. We do have our referral list

          9  that we give voucher holders at the outset. These

         10  are apartments that landlords have called us and

         11  said are available. And also, on our extranet

         12  website so that voucher holders can check on it to

         13  see any changes in it at any time. They don't have

         14  to come back to the office or whatever, that's

         15  available.

         16                 We don't provide any other formal

         17  search assistance beyond that at this time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 And thank you, I want to thank our

         23  panel from NYCHA. I appreciate your testimony. Also

         24  we will follow-up in writing to you with some

         25  additional questions, and I would urge you to
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          2  prepare some formal response to us on some of the

          3  reports you mentioned earlier, HUD, CSS, the new

          4  ACORN report, et cetera. We'll send you a follow-up

          5  on that. Thank you very much.

          6                 Okay, we have several more panels.

          7  I'm going to ask everyone to please help us by

          8  summarizing to the maximum extent possible. We have

          9  ACORN now to discuss their study, Doresa Daverna, I

         10  believe is the witness. And while she is coming up,

         11  I'd like to note we're having read into the record

         12  testimony, written testimony from the Fair Housing

         13  Justice Center.

         14                 Hopefully we can buy a few extra

         15  minutes in this room from the Committee coming in

         16  next. And just again, everyone, please summarize

         17  testimony rather than reading it. All written

         18  testimony will go into the formal record.

         19                 MS. DAVERNA: Hello. Good evening.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Hi. We welcome

         21  your testimony.

         22                 MS. DAVERNA: I am Doresa Daverna. And

         23  I'm a member of ACORN and speaking in behalf of

         24  ACORN, as well as a tenant of Starrett City. And the

         25  testimony and everything we have on the record here
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          2  I will read.

          3                 As you know, it's hard to find a

          4  place in the City to live, especially if we don't

          5  have a lot of money. I basically don't really have

          6  to read that to say that. And it's very harder to

          7  find a place to live if part of our rent is being

          8  paid by Section 8.

          9                 I know this and my neighbors also

         10  know this, because now Starrett City is under this

         11  type of situation. The Mitchell-Lama program is

         12  being, trying to be taken away from us. Basically

         13  there really is no place to go.

         14                 But the whole cold facts, and we have

         15  proof of that by the tests that ACORN did, and if

         16  you would like a copy, we have a copy here to give

         17  to you, how hard it really is to find a place.

         18                 First, we called every property

         19  management company in the New York City's yellow

         20  pages.com. When the tester called, they asked if

         21  there were a studio available for less than a 1,000,

         22  or a one bedroom for less than 1,075 dollars, and if

         23  there was any available at all the tester would ask

         24  if they took Section 8. So, we made 1,449 calls and

         25  found 415 good phone numbers, and out of those 415
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          2  numbers, only 86 had apartments within the Section 8

          3  rent guidelines.

          4                 Then out of those, only 37 actually

          5  had apartments available. So, that means only one in

          6  ten companies that we reached would rent to people

          7  who had a Section 8 voucher. One in ten.

          8                 So, we didn't stop there. What we

          9  did, we called apartments listed in the Daily News

         10  and the New York Times and on Greg's list. This time

         11  we selected poster.net (phonetic) advertised

         12  apartments in the right rent range. So, out of 161

         13  listing, 122 were available but only 16 would accept

         14  Section 8 vouchers.

         15                 That means only 13 percent of the

         16  available apartments would take Section 8. This is a

         17  little better in one in 10 but not much. So, while

         18  the percentage was better in Staten Island, there

         19  were only one actually apartment available.

         20                 So, finally was we decided to test

         21  was NYCHA's own list. The list they gave out to

         22  people with Section 8 vouchers, who are looking for

         23  apartments. We called 266 numbers but were only able

         24  to reach 140 of them. So, out of the 266 calls, only

         25  80 had apartments available and accepted Section 8.

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 That is only 80 in the entire City of

          3  New York City. So, what does this mean? With places

          4  like Starrett City up for sale, and buildings all

          5  over the City opting out of the Mitchell Lama

          6  Program, thousands and thousands of tenants could

          7  end up with no place to live, like a lot of them

          8  being displaced now with no place to go, nowhere to

          9  live, none whatsoever.

         10                 Landlords who refuse to take Section

         11  8 are saying low-income people of color and senior

         12  citizens of fixed income, and people that have

         13  worked and now retired on the RSP program, otherwise

         14  we don't need no place to live, now we can be dumped

         15  in the street, now that they want Brooklyn back, and

         16  every land that they can buy.

         17                 Section 8, many, many thousands of

         18  people are holding Section 8 vouchers. There is

         19  none. No landlord, none whatsoever now that is

         20  accepting Section 8 voucher. What are they doing

         21  with the people? Where are they going? Because we

         22  are now living on fixed income.

         23                 So, it is a racial discrimination on

         24  age, a discrimination on color, discrimination of

         25  whatever name, other name you want to name it, it's
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          2  discrimination against the people.

          3                 And I don't feel this should be

          4  happening in New York City. It is illegal in New

          5  York City, unlike it is in Los Angeles, Washington,

          6  Chicago and many other cities and states that do not

          7  have this going on. This is the testimony on the

          8  date of Section 8 and what is happening, we also

          9  have, we can present into you, we did a study,

         10  ACORN, on the testing. It's in the book here.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         12  much for your testimony. I do have a copy of your

         13  study, and I appreciate, I think you had very

         14  important conclusions and obviously a very

         15  exhaustive, extensive study was done, and I

         16  appreciate your testimony and the fact that ACORN

         17  has been very supportive of our efforts to try and

         18  look at this problem and look at what we may need to

         19  do going forward legally to ensure there is no

         20  discrimination, particularly as this housing market

         21  gets tougher and tougher.

         22                 And you're right, Starrett City is

         23  one of the big warning lights in all of this.

         24                 MS. DAVERNA: Yes, it is.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So thank you

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  very much for your testimony. We will include your

          3  study in the record.

          4                 MS. DAVERNA: And thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now I'd like to

          6  call up Frank Ricci of the Rent Stabilization

          7  Association. Frank is a veteran of our 2004 hearing.

          8  I am pronouncing Ricci in the historic Italian

          9  pronunciation. He will allow -- he will give me a

         10  dispensation to do so; will he not, sir?

         11                 MR. RICCI: Absolutely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         13                 MR. RICCI: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14  My name is Frank Ricci. I'm the Director of

         15  Government Affairs for the Rent Stabilization

         16  Association. I am joined here today by our General

         17  Counsel Mitch Posilkin, and, yes, you're correct, I

         18  am a veteran of the hearing you had in 2004. I will

         19  summarize today. It will be fairly easy, because

         20  when I looked at my testimony from 2004, and spoke

         21  for members who really participate in the Section 8

         22  program, Mitch and I found out that really not very

         23  much has changed. So, when your staff reads this

         24  testimony into the record, they're going to find

         25  that it's remarkably similar to the 2004 testimony.
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          2  And, while I'll say at the outset that I think HPD

          3  and NYCHA have tried to make a very good effort in

          4  correcting their programs, there is still a lot to

          5  be done. We had a meeting as late as yesterday with

          6  NYCHA. We have several owners, I should say, who are

          7  big participants in the Section 8 program with HPD

          8  and NYCHA, and collectively, out of four or five

          9  owners that we deal with a lot on this, they

         10  probably manage between 25- and 30,000 apartments.

         11  Of that 30,000, there is probably three to 5,000 in

         12  the Section 8 program collectively amongst these

         13  five people. They're probably owed in arrears

         14  several million dollars for a variety of reasons,

         15  and that's what I'd like to just go through now very

         16  quickly.

         17                 As I said, many of these issues were

         18  the same as they were three years ago. You have four

         19  agencies, and we heard from NYCHA and HPD today. We

         20  also know that the State Division of Housing and

         21  Community Renewal, DHC, are-- also issue Section 8

         22  vouchers, as does the Department of Homeless

         23  Services.

         24                 So, when you have larger managing

         25  agents who deal in different boroughs, they will
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          2  often deal with Section 8 voucher holders, they can

          3  be dealing with four different agencies that have

          4  four different sets of policies and procedures, and

          5  within each borough of that agency, policies and

          6  procedures will differ. So, it gets enormously

          7  complicated for these larger managing agents. They

          8  usually have several staff people in their office

          9  who only deal with navigating Section 8. For a

         10  larger owner, the economy of scale may make sense to

         11  do that. For a smaller owner, that makes no sense at

         12  all.

         13                 So, if there is an excuse for owners

         14  who want to opt out of dealing with Section 8

         15  tenants, if you're a smaller owner, and I think you

         16  heard Greg Kern say today from NYCHA, that I believe

         17  he said 21,000 or 29,000 owners that he deals with,

         18  obviously a lot of those are smaller owners and to

         19  navigate different agencies with different policies

         20  and different sets of rules and procedures is a

         21  problem.

         22                 I know you asked a question earlier

         23  about, I think it was HPD, do they have a specific

         24  person who is like a case manager? We got a call I

         25  think several weeks ago from one of our members who
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          2  actually manages a building in Council Member

          3  Brewer's district, right near the Time Warner

          4  Center, and you would think that buildings there

          5  might not still be dealing in Section 8. This

          6  building is a large building and she has 40 Section

          7  8 tenants in that building. Of those 40 they're all

          8  HPD, and there is a different case manager for every

          9  tenant.

         10                 So, when she has a problem, she can't

         11  call one person who is dealing with that building to

         12  resolve a Section 8 issue. She has asked, every

         13  tenant, and some of the tenants may have the same

         14  person, but she has to keep track of a different

         15  person assigned to each tenant, each time to resolve

         16  that problem. That clearly makes no sense

         17  whatsoever.

         18                 The problems I think you hit on

         19  earlier start at rent-up, when there is an apartment

         20  that is made available for Section 8. I think the

         21  procedure you heard today was a little optimistic in

         22  terms of time frame from HPD, two weeks to schedule

         23  an inspection, in another two weeks to improve. We

         24  hear a month or two is very common to get an

         25  approval to rent up an apartment, and you have to
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          2  measure that against an unregulated tenant who may

          3  be buying the same apartment. You're going to lose

          4  two months' rent up front, versus getting someone in

          5  right away, and that's a big deal for a lot of

          6  owners, especially in this day and age. We've talked

          7  a lot today about affordability, and there's a lot

          8  of things, underlying reasons driving affordability

          9  in this City, property taxes are probably the number

         10  one issue in the last five years because of the

         11  tremendous run-up in tax assessments, as well as the

         12  tax rates, which I know you're both very familiar

         13  with. You know, to lose two months rent, if you have

         14  a ten-unit building or a 15-unit building, that's an

         15  enormous amount of cash flow that you're giving up.

         16                 So, when an owner has two tenants who

         17  are equal in every respect, and ultimately even with

         18  terms of income, but one is going to, you're going

         19  to lose two months on because the Section 8 takes so

         20  long to process, versus someone who doesn't,

         21  obviously, I don't think it's discrimination due to

         22  any animus on the part of the owner, it's just

         23  making an economic business decision, I'm going to

         24  take the person who can start paying me the rent

         25  tomorrow, not wait two months.
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          2                 Probably the biggest complaint we

          3  hear from the owners who do deal with Section 8,

          4  have to do with the least renewal process, and the

          5  rent increase that they're entitled to, either

          6  because of just straight renewal or if it's a

          7  rent-stabilized apartment, there could also be an

          8  NCI increase in there. But when we asked one of our

          9  larger members who deals with Section 8 a few weeks

         10  ago for some statistics, what we found really

         11  shocking was that, and this percentage was much

         12  higher for HPD than NYCHA, I should say, when you

         13  looked at the statistics, it was clear that they

         14  didn't make sense, what was happening was, not only

         15  were they late at least one year on renewal, but

         16  they were actually all multiple renewals, going back

         17  two years or three years, but still hadn't been

         18  processed yet by HPD. So, this one particular owner

         19  was I think owed $600,000, just in lease renewals

         20  from HPD, which is an enormous amount of money to

         21  have hanging out there, once again when you've got

         22  all these other economic pressures on you as a

         23  building owner these days, to float that kind of

         24  money to the Section 8 system I don't think is

         25  reasonable. So, you know, there are legitimate
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          2  reasons why owners will not participate in this

          3  government-run program that they typically have

          4  participated in and are familiar with because it's

          5  getting increasingly more difficult to do so.

          6                 I'm actually going to stop there

          7  because I think I've hit the main issues that I

          8  wanted to talk about. But this is a program that

          9  should be voluntary and it should work smoothly, and

         10  I think if it did work smoothly, we wouldn't have

         11  owners that are opting out.

         12                 I think you heard from the agencies

         13  today that all the vouchers are accounted for. What

         14  you are seeing is in those parts of the City that

         15  are experiencing a really tough sort of economic

         16  change going on because of property tax rates,

         17  today's paper is talking about an astronomical 11

         18  and a half percent increase in water rates, which in

         19  a low-income area water rates, even for

         20  not-for-profit managing agents who don't pay taxes,

         21  water rates they will tell you are the number one

         22  issue driving the expense side of their ledger. You

         23  know, there's good economic reasons why some owners

         24  want to avoid the Section 8 program, but in those

         25  neighborhoods that are changing, where you're seeing
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          2  this run-up in costs, those I think are where you're

          3  seeing more of the owners opting out and taking a

          4  market rate tenant.

          5                 So, with that, unless you'd want to

          6  say something?

          7                 MS. POSILKIN: I guess the only thing

          8  I could add, as Frank stated and as NYCHA indicated,

          9  all vouchers are spoken for. I think it's pretty

         10  remarkable that we're sitting here discussing a

         11  potential piece of legislation pertaining to

         12  discrimination when I guess by the City's own

         13  numbers you have 35,000 owners throughout the City

         14  who are accounting for and have tenants in place

         15  with approximately 110,000 vouchers. So, obviously,

         16  I think what you're hearing is that from start to

         17  finish the process is so flawed, the redundant City

         18  agencies to redundant laws to redundant procedures,

         19  perhaps no procedures. I mean, just to give you one

         20  example of that I believe we talked about before,

         21  the Housing Authority at least has a series of what

         22  they call leased housing directives. Those are their

         23  written policies and procedures. So, if you want to

         24  know what their policy is on transfers, if you want

         25  to know what their policy is on suspensions, if you
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          2  want to know what their policy is, you have to be

          3  able to find that directive, because it's not on

          4  their website, but assuming you have access to those

          5  directives, you can at least know what their policy

          6  is.

          7                 HPD does not have any sort of

          8  regulations or directives so that an owner can know

          9  what their policies and procedures are. So, here, as

         10  Frank indicated, you have an owner who has HPD

         11  Section 8s, he has NYCHA Section 8s, he has to deal

         12  with redundant agencies, he has to deal with

         13  policies with one agency that he may know about

         14  because they're in writing, the other agency he

         15  doesn't know, and then the entire process does not

         16  exist if he chooses to go in a non-Section 8

         17  environment. He's already dealing with Code

         18  Enforcement, so Code violations are presumably not

         19  an issue, or they're already governed by existing

         20  law, so then you have the HQS level on top of that.

         21  You have HQS violations. I think by Mr. Kern's own

         22  testimony or HPD's testimony, they said 50 percent

         23  of the HQS conditions are repaired timely. Well,

         24  that means 50 percent are not. That means 50 percent

         25  of the time an owner with a Section 8 tenant, 50
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          2  percent of the time that an owner has a Section 8

          3  tenant, he is going to incur a rent suspension,

          4  because he did not repair that condition timely.

          5                 Well, is it because he never got the

          6  notification of the condition? Is it because he got

          7  the notification of the condition late, is it

          8  because the tenant didn't provide access? Is it

          9  because the HQS inspector couldn't get back in to

         10  determine whether or not the condition had been

         11  corrected.

         12                 All of those levels, all of those

         13  subparts, when you peel back the onion, none of

         14  those issues exist in a non-Section 8 environment.

         15  So, here on the one hand there are all these reasons

         16  not to participate in the program, you know, the

         17  payment issues are just one example, the lease

         18  renewals, all that bureaucracy, a paper-driven

         19  bureaucracy, all of those reasons exist for an owner

         20  to participate, and you still have 35,000 owners who

         21  are participating with 110,000 vouchers.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, let me

         23  say first, we appreciate your testimony, and it's

         24  always very substantive and helpful. I think there

         25  is a lot of common ground on the concerns about the
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          2  administration of this program, because I don't

          3  think anyone is winning when the equation doesn't go

          4  smoothly for tenant and landlord alike. I think

          5  that's just the simplest way of putting it.

          6                 And I think in a number of the

          7  answers, particularly from HPD, I thought there were

          8  some substantial room for improvement, and it's

          9  obvious. On the case manager point, they're a more

         10  optimistic vision of what's happening, still doesn't

         11  sound anywhere near good enough, and you have

         12  perhaps a more jaded view of what's happening with a

         13  number of case managers that any particular building

         14  representative might deal with.

         15                 So, I think there's a tremendous

         16  common ground on wanting this program to work better

         17  for everyone.

         18                 Now, three years ago I think the

         19  impetus for this bill was because this bill was a

         20  belief, particularly among a lot of the advocates

         21  who work in low-income communities that there was

         22  regular incidence of discrimination and that's what

         23  led to the bill, which is a very different issue

         24  from what is the average landlord doing, or the

         25  majority of landlords doing. You know, as with any
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          2  other discussion of discrimination, often talking

          3  about a small number, and I will use the phrase "bad

          4  apples," in any category of life, no one is saying

          5  this is everyone. But I think this started with a

          6  concern that there was a certain amount of

          7  discrimination occurring.

          8                 Now I think there is an added concern

          9  about what's happening in the rental market, and I

         10  thought NYCHA's response was telling, you're right

         11  that at this moment there appears to be a very

         12  impressive number of landlords engaged this program,

         13  warts and all; at the same time, what's happening in

         14  the rental market does create real concerns about

         15  the future. And I think that's why there has been a

         16  desire to both look at the possibility of

         17  discrimination issues and other issues that will

         18  block tenants from effectively using vouchers, but

         19  at the same time work together, all of us, to see

         20  how we can improve this program and the

         21  administration of the program, which is in

         22  everyone's interest.

         23                 I know you feel, and I certainly

         24  heard from the Human Rights Commission as well, that

         25  you don't believe there is a substantial
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          2  discrimination problem. I respect that's your view,

          3  your professional view, but I'm looking at this

          4  legislation, both in terms of today, and also where

          5  I fear the City is going, where fewer and fewer

          6  units are available just because of economics and

          7  then I think other issues start to crop up.

          8                 So, you know, I don't expect total

          9  agreement on everything at this moment, but I just

         10  wanted to emphasize that's what the motivation is

         11  currently, particularly as conditions of change.

         12                 I do want to spend another moment on

         13  just what you would recommend going forward.

         14  Clearly, we've heard the concerns about language

         15  difficulties, in terms of building owners,

         16  representatives of buildings and tenants all dealing

         17  with the City. It's something we've heard very

         18  consistently from RSA as a problem that hasn't gone

         19  addressed, the case manager problem, it does not

         20  sound like the follow-up on violations is timely in

         21  many cases, and obviously the economic

         22  ramifications, that's part of why I asked the

         23  question earlier what does it really mean for a

         24  landlord if payments are continually held up, what

         25  is the actual cash flow impact.
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          2                 But could you just delineate, if you

          3  could change several core things, what would you

          4  change?

          5                 MR. RICCI: Well, I think the main

          6  thing, we've floated this idea now for at least

          7  three, four years of consolidating the program under

          8  one agency. Since come to light, and we understand

          9  government, we've been around government a long

         10  time, there is actually fees attached that these

         11  agencies collected from HUD to process each voucher.

         12  So, there's probably an institutional block there as

         13  to why HPD doesn't want to give up their voucher

         14  program and NYCHA doesn't want to give up theirs,

         15  but since they're all governed by HUD, I would think

         16  at a minimum, at a minimum this Administration,

         17  which was an administration that came in talking

         18  about how they were going to streamline government,

         19  could make both agencies sit down and have one

         20  consistent set of rules and procedures, and, you

         21  know, as Mitch alluded to a second ago, simply

         22  putting all of these policy directives on their

         23  website would go a long way towards helping a lot of

         24  owners understand what's expected of them.

         25                 As I said sort of over and over again
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          2  before, you have owners who are large or

          3  medium-sized owners who are sophisticated, and they

          4  have dedicated staff in their office who understand

          5  how to do these things. They set up internal

          6  procedures to make sure that every step of the way

          7  there is a sign-off from someone either at the

          8  building or by the tenant or by the agency and

          9  things are done with certified mail so the agency

         10  can't say they lost things, yet these problems still

         11  occur over and over again.

         12                 At least making the rules and

         13  regulations and policies consistent between the two

         14  agencies, I don't think there's a big deal, but that

         15  would go a long way towards streamlining the

         16  procedure and make a lot of these other, larger

         17  owners, who have already invested in the system and

         18  want to stay in the system stay there and not have

         19  to be waiting years for money that they're entitled

         20  to.

         21                 I mean, the lease renewal issue is

         22  major, major item. Streamlining that process would

         23  go a long way towards keeping owners in.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I assume

         25  you agree that the more people could do everything
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          2  in a paperless fashion, that could be one of the

          3  things that really --

          4                 MR. RICCI: Yes. We actually had a

          5  meeting yesterday with NYCHA about this whole

          6  electronic transfer of funds. I, of course, thought

          7  that would be a great thing and would help and what

          8  the owner said afterward to us was, yes, it's okay,

          9  but just work on the lease renewal thing and we

         10  don't care about the rest. Don't let us hang out

         11  there for a year or two waiting for the money. We

         12  can deal with the rest because we're already set up

         13  for it.

         14                 But, yes, I think ultimately anything

         15  that would streamline it and using technology to do

         16  that is a tremendous help.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And listen, it

         18  would be very helpful to us going forward, maybe you

         19  have this at your fingertips, but to get your

         20  version of the quantification, I've been asking the

         21  same question of the agencies, how many of your

         22  members are currently experiencing, or if you want

         23  to do it over a one-year period or whatever,

         24  experiencing substantial delays in getting payments?

         25  You know, if you could give us a sense of how many
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          2  have an entirely satisfactory experience, where

          3  everything moves relatively smoothly, how many have

          4  challenging experiences, what kind of time frames,

          5  how many have the horror stories, you know, years go

          6  by, $600,000. I think just like you're saying, you

          7  know, quantify the situation on the tenant end and

          8  what the challenges are, and we're trying to be

          9  clear about the extent of potential discrimination,

         10  we're all trying to get our numbers clear, because

         11  that's how we can have a common dialogue, but either

         12  give us some now or follow up with your sense of --

         13                 MR. POSILKIN: Right. Unfortunately, I

         14  don't have them with me, but we recently -- and,

         15  again, we don't have RSA-wide data on this, but in

         16  speaking to the larger guys out there, and if anyone

         17  is capable of navigating the system, it is those

         18  people.

         19                 So, one of the owners was owed

         20  approximately, as Frank said, about three-quarters

         21  of a million dollars in lease renewals, another guy

         22  was owed over about a million dollars in lease

         23  renewals, which are big numbers as far as the last

         24  time I checked, and one of them, I guess he averaged

         25  out his lease renewals, the NYCHA lease renewals
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          2  were almost a year, and the HPD were a year and a

          3  half, that's average.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I'm just

          5  going to ask, because everyone today hasn't had

          6  everything at their fingertips, I totally understand

          7  that, but we would like to follow up with you and

          8  even if you take a universe of your largest or your

          9  top 100, whatever you want to do, anything that

         10  breaks out the extent of the problem, what kinds of

         11  problems in particular, what the time lines are,

         12  what the dollar impact, would really help us as we

         13  pursue this dialogue.

         14                 MR. RICCI: We'll prepare that for

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Great.

         17                 Okay, thank you very much. We really

         18  appreciate your testimony.

         19                 Now I'd like to call up Matt Davis

         20  from Connecticut Legal Services; is that correct?

         21  From Stanford, Connecticut, we welcome you.

         22                 MR. DAVIS: Mr. Chairman, Committee

         23  members, thank you for letting me address you today.

         24  I've been asked by The Legal Aid Society of New York

         25  to come. We're one of the states that does have an
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          2  anti-discrimination statute on the books, and

          3  related to that I just want to say that it does lead

          4  to an increased ability for Section 8 participants,

          5  or those seeking a lease to do that. There was some

          6  testimony earlier about whether that happens, and,

          7  yes, it does. I've seen it anecdotally through the

          8  different housing authorities with which we work in

          9  defending low-income tenants who have

         10  housing-related issues. There was some earlier

         11  testimony about conflated or pretextual issues

         12  related to source of income and race, and the

         13  anti-discrimination statute in Connecticut is very

         14  helpful in that regard because it allows you to

         15  parse through what's really going on, and there is

         16  no issue about whether -- we've heard testimony

         17  about landlords being willing to, in Connecticut,

         18  with two exceptions you don't have a choice, either

         19  accept Section 8 or the tenant then has a right with

         20  a remedy. And that's the most valuable part of this

         21  statute. It has teeth to it which allows a tenant

         22  who feels he's been discriminated against to go

         23  after the landlord, and the Commission and Human

         24  Rights organization in Connecticut can facility, or

         25  you have a direct right of action to the Superior
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          2  Court in Connecticut. It's very helpful.

          3                 I recently settled a case for $10,000

          4  on behalf of my clients who were discriminated

          5  against. The landlord initially went through the

          6  Section 8 lease process, signed the request for

          7  tenancy approvals, submitted it to the Housing

          8  Authority. He met my client's husband for the first

          9  time, who happened to be black, of Dominican

         10  ancestry, then went back to the wife who was white

         11  and said, sorry, I have problems with the lease

         12  terms - the testimony we've heard today.

         13                 That landlord ultimately had to pay

         14  $10,000 to my clients because the Commission found

         15  in a probable cause hearing that that was not

         16  permissible under the State statue. And the State

         17  statute has been upheld by the Connecticut Supreme

         18  Court. Connecticut's highest court. I realize trial

         19  courts in New York are called the Supreme Court. And

         20  that decision you can find at West Law, I'll give

         21  you the cite briefly for the record, it's 250 con

         22  763. And I thank you for letting me be here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I

         24  appreciate you coming down to the City to help and

         25  give us your experience.
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          2                 There is a quick question for you.

          3                 MR. DAVIS: Sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And, again, if

          5  you have this at your fingertips, that's great.

          6  Otherwise, if you would be kind enough to follow up

          7  with us.

          8                 MR. DAVIS: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Again, trying

         10  to get things to be as numerical as possible, do you

         11  have a sense of sort of the number of discrimination

         12  cases that existed or were alleged or existed

         13  previous to the law coming in and then some specific

         14  impact the laws have?

         15                 MR. DAVIS: The statute was enacted in

         16  1989, and in fact, there were two attempts to repeal

         17  the provision that applied to Section 8. The

         18  legislative history of the bill speaks to that.

         19  Initially there were 28 complaints, and out of that

         20  17 of those were Section 8 discrimination cases, and

         21  that's found in the legislative history, which I can

         22  leave with you. I do have a copy of that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         24                 MR. DAVIS: Other than that, I can't

         25  tell you, because I didn't find out I was going to
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          2  be here until yesterday.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're doing

          4  fine for short notice.

          5                 MR. DAVIS: And I've got a trial

          6  tomorrow, so...

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

          8                 MR. DAVIS: So, I will be brief and I

          9  thank you for the opportunity to be here, but, you

         10  know, I wanted to narrow the focus. A lot of this is

         11  going on the management of Section 8 and true, there

         12  are problems everywhere. But the narrow focus of

         13  your bill is something that makes discrimination

         14  prohibited, and from my experience in Connecticut

         15  it's a good thing. It benefits tenants. And for New

         16  York City - gotta do it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I

         18  appreciate it. And we will follow up with you and

         19  any details you can give us on how it's benefitted

         20  tenants will be very helpful.

         21                 MR. DAVIS: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you so

         23  much. And thank you for your patience. Sorry it took

         24  a while to get there. Good luck with your trial.

         25                 Okay, our next panel, Judith Goldiner
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          2  of Legal Aid Society of New York. And you'll

          3  introduce your guests. Let me say at the outset we

          4  want to thank you, Judith, for all the work you've

          5  done with us on this legislation.

          6                 MS. GOLDINER: Well, it's been a

          7  pleasure to work with your staff. And I'm so sorry

          8  about, I guess she had a sickness in her family.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         10                 MS. GOLDINER: Tell her I'm really

         11  sorry about that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: She's dealing

         13  with that.

         14                 But thank you for being here, and why

         15  don't you open with your comments and introduce your

         16  guests and their interpreter, and we'll be happy to

         17  hear from them as well.

         18                 MS. GOLDINER: Okay. Well, I'll be

         19  brief. We have some examples in my testimony of

         20  other clients of ours who have experienced this kind

         21  of discrimination.

         22                 I confess, until the ACORN study it

         23  was more anecdotal, but we're thrilled that they

         24  were able to do the study, though obviously we're

         25  upset by the results because it shows what we've
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          2  been hearing for many years that it's so difficult

          3  for our clients to be able to use their vouchers,

          4  even when they're in place. I mean, I think that's

          5  something that was very lacking in the Rent

          6  Stabilization Association testimony, and you'll hear

          7  from my clients about it, that even when you're in

          8  an apartment that you could use your Section 8

          9  voucher in, so there is no time lag, none of those

         10  problems that Mr. Lam was talking about, we still

         11  see landlords who are saying no. And our experience

         12  is that it doesn't have to do with what the problems

         13  they're talking about, but it has to do with the

         14  fact that they would like to see long-term tenants

         15  leave so that they could get more money for those

         16  apartments.

         17                 I'm currently litigating a case that

         18  will be argued in the Court of Appeals on May 31st,

         19  the case called "Rosario." In that case we

         20  represented Ms. Rosario who challenged her

         21  landlord's refusal to continue to accept her Section

         22  8 voucher. That case is Rosario versus Diagonal

         23  Realty. We won in the Supreme Court. The Supreme

         24  Court was affirmed by the Appellate Division and the

         25  landlord is now appealing that case to the Court of
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          2  Appeals.

          3                 But I want to be clear that even if

          4  we win Rosario, it will only help tenants who are

          5  currently in place whose landlords are saying we

          6  won't continue to accept your Section 8 voucher.

          7  That doesn't help the 22,000 New Yorkers who are

          8  about to get Section 8 and who will be out there

          9  looking to use it. So, it won't help those people.

         10  It will help the two-thirds of the tenants who are

         11  partly, as Gregory Kern testified, are currently in

         12  rent-stabilized apartments. So, if I win in the

         13  Court of Appeals, it will help them, it will not

         14  help others.

         15                 I also wanted to point out that

         16  despite what the Commission on Human Rights said

         17  that similar laws have been upheld by the highest

         18  courts of Connecticut, Massachusetts and New Jersey.

         19  So, he said these are not the kind of laws that are

         20  upheld. That's absolutely false. They have been

         21  upheld by the highest court of Connecticut, the

         22  highest court of Massachusetts and the highest court

         23  of New Jersey. I can give you those cites. I don't

         24  have them with me but I'll provide them to your

         25  staff later.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And let me just

          3  interject with the obvious question: Has there been

          4  any appeal to federal courts in any of those cases?

          5                 MS. GOLDINER: No, because these are

          6  State laws, they don't involve -- the states clearly

          7  have the right to have their own discrimination

          8  laws. You know, as you I'm sure know, New York City

          9  and New York State prohibit discrimination based on

         10  sexual orientation. That's something the federal

         11  government doesn't do, but it's clear that the

         12  states have the right to have greater -- that you

         13  can pass greater rights in the states than the

         14  federal government has to.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, in terms of

         16  -- I want to stay on Human Rights Commission

         17  testimony just for a second, in terms of the claim

         18  that Section 8 is constructed as a quote/unquote

         19  voluntary program and therefore anti-discrimination,

         20  anti-discrimination provision would not apply, if

         21  you will. I'm not a lawyer but I'm not saying it

         22  right. But you'll answer, right? The question is,

         23  when those three state courts acted, how did they

         24  treat the question of the quote/unquote voluntary

         25  nature or non-voluntary nature of Section 8?
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          2                 MS. GOLDINER: They directly went to

          3  the statute and they found that the federal

          4  government did not intend to take the rights from

          5  the states to prohibit discrimination. The fact that

          6  it was a voluntary program did not change that, that

          7  the states were free to make it not voluntary.

          8                 In the wake of those three decisions

          9  by the three highest courts of those states, the

         10  HUD, where I used to work, promulgated a regulation

         11  that said quite clearly, and I can give you that

         12  cite as well, although I don't have it here right

         13  now, that said nothing is intended to prohibit

         14  anti-discrimination provisions. So, they made it

         15  clear that there is no preemption, which is, you

         16  know, the federal law does not trump the State law

         17  as regards anti-discrimination provisions, and that

         18  was after these three states acted, three states'

         19  highest courts acted.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         21  Please continue.

         22                 MS. GOLDINER: Sure. Well, as I said,

         23  I have in my testimony descriptions of some other

         24  instances where we found discrimination, but I have

         25  two sets of clients here today who can tell their
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          2  story. I have a Russian interpreter who can

          3  interpret for them. So I am hoping that I can turn

          4  it over to them if you don't have other questions --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

          6  introduce both your clients and your interpreter.

          7                 MS. GOLDINER: Okay. We have here

          8  Vladimir Timkovsky and Yevgeniya Timkovsky and also

          9  Yuria Mikolava. And the Timkovskys are going to

         10  speak first, and the interpreter is Gayla Koravino.

         11                 MS. KORAVINO: Yes, Gayla Koravino.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Welcome,

         13  all of you.

         14                 MS. KORAVINO: Thank you.

         15                 MS. TIMKOVSKY: (Through the

         16  interpreter) My name is Yevgeniya Timkovsky. In

         17  English it's Genie Timkovsky. I am 73 years old. I'm

         18  sorry, I am actually 75 years old. And my husband

         19  Vladimir Timkovsky, he is 73 years old. We live in

         20  an apartment on Bennet, 56, in New York City. We

         21  joined the lease for the Section 8 in May of '93.

         22  And we moved into this building in 1994 because our

         23  landlord proposed to us when it will be our term and

         24  the voucher, he will accept this voucher. But at

         25  that time probably our landlord did not know and we
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          2  did not know either that this period will last more

          3  than 13 years, waiting period.

          4                 But in Year 1996, I do not remember

          5  for sure, but about this time I think our landlord

          6  already knew that he was not going to accept our

          7  voucher. However, he did not tell us about this. And

          8  we were just waiting because we expected that when

          9  our term comes we will receive this Section 8

         10  program in our own building.

         11                 But our waiting time was very long

         12  and we received our voucher only on January 25th of

         13  this year. And all these years we were paying for

         14  our apartment, we had our rent cut at SCRIE and so

         15  we're paying $675 for our apartment. And this rent

         16  is a huge burden for us, and the only reason we

         17  moved into that building was that the landlord

         18  promised us to give to accept our Section 8 voucher.

         19  This rent was very high then for us, and it's huge

         20  burden for us now.

         21                 And now our landlord wouldn't even

         22  give us an appointment. When we received the

         23  voucher, our landlord refused to talk to us. And now

         24  the full market rate for our apartment is about

         25  $1,000. Something like $998 without this. NYCHA
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          2  allows only $1,050. So, our landlord is not going to

          3  suffer financially at all; however, we suffer

          4  financially every month. Every month we lose about

          5  $300.

          6                 We cannot find another apartment in

          7  our area for this money. We already obliged to all

          8  the appropriate organizations for help and nobody is

          9  able to help us because there are no apartments for

         10  this in this price range in our area. And we see our

         11  station as completely hopeless, we see no hope

         12  inside because actually I'm quite sick and I need to

         13  undergo surgeries every three months and I'm going

         14  to the local doctor who does them, and I simply

         15  cannot imagine how I can live in the air where we

         16  live now.

         17                 Besides I have the illness called

         18  asthma, I hope you heard about it, and I simply

         19  cannot live in another area because even when I

         20  visit other areas it was extremely difficult for me,

         21  for my asthma.

         22                 That's it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 MR. MIKOLAVA: (Through the
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          2  interpreter) My name is Yuria Mikolava, and I have a

          3  voucher which was issued to me because of my health,

          4  because of my disability. And though I have a

          5  voucher, I cannot find a place to live. I have been

          6  looking for several months, landlord refuse to rent

          7  me an apartment. And one landlord was kind of

          8  willing to discuss it with me but he said, he told

          9  me that they have in-housing program, and so if I

         10  submit my voucher it will disappear.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. We

         12  want to thank all of you for your testimony. We

         13  appreciate it. And we hope we can all work with you

         14  to improve your personal situations.

         15                 Thank you, again, Judith, for your

         16  help with the legislation.

         17                 MS. GOLDINER: We appreciate your

         18  leadership on this issue.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Our final

         20  panel, and I want to thank Council Member Simcha

         21  Felder, he has the next hearing about to begin, he's

         22  giving us a few extra minutes here, which we

         23  appreciate, Michael Mckee of Tenants PAC and May

         24  Kolar of Tenants and Neighbors. And while they're

         25  coming up, we're going to have read into the record
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          2  written testimony by the Center for Independence of

          3  the Disabled New York.

          4                 We appreciate your patience, Michael

          5  and May (sic). It's been a long time.

          6                 MR. McKEE: Mary.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry,

          8  Mary? I'm sorry. My apology, Mary. And, again, we

          9  appreciate the patience of Chair Felder, who is

         10  kindly giving us a few extra moments, and we welcome

         11  your testimony.

         12                 MR. McKEE: Thank you, Chair DeBlasio,

         13  and we're very happy to testify in support of this

         14  bill. My name is Michael McKee and I'm the Treasurer

         15  of the Tenants Political Action Committee. This bill

         16  is badly needed and long overdue. I remember Tom

         17  Duane carried a similar bill in the early 1990s when

         18  he was in the Council. We hope that the General

         19  Welfare Committee will report this bill soon. Very

         20  soon. And we hope it will be quickly passed by the

         21  entire City Council. It cannot happen soon enough.

         22                 We live in a City that suffers from

         23  an intractable pattern of racial and economic

         24  segregation. Poor people, especially low-income

         25  persons of color experience constant discrimination,
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          2  and I have to say the testimony that we just heard

          3  was an eye opener for me.

          4                 I repeatedly hear of instances where

          5  tenants who have Section 8 vouchers have been unable

          6  to find a landlord of a habitable apartment willing

          7  to rent to them. I do not accept Section 8 as a

          8  common statement by landlords. I hear that all the

          9  time.

         10                 We all understand that this statement

         11  is often code for more insidious forms of

         12  discrimination. Most landlords are sophisticated

         13  enough to know that they cannot say that they do not

         14  rent to people of color or who people who speak

         15  Spanish or who belong to other classes protected by

         16  our anti-discrimination laws.

         17                 I host a weekly call-in program for

         18  tenants and neighbors on community access

         19  television, telecasting live in Brooklyn, Manhattan

         20  and the Bronx. Tenants call in to ask about problems

         21  they are having with landlords. One of the most

         22  frequent calls we get is tenants who have Section 8

         23  certificates who cannot find an apartment, usually

         24  because the landlord says I don't take Section 8.

         25                 Another very common call is tenants
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          2  who already are in an apartment who have Section 8

          3  vouchers but are having all sorts of problems with

          4  their landlords. So, it really is time for this bill

          5  to be enacted. We wonder why it is taking so long.

          6  We're very eager to have this on the books. And I

          7  just want to say in response to the RSA testimony,

          8  the problems that the real estate industry cites

          9  with the Administration of the Section 8 program can

         10  be no excuse for not passing this bill. I mean, yes,

         11  there are serious administrative problems that need

         12  to be dealt with, that doesn't mean that

         13  discrimination should be legal. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         15  much, Michael. And I want to thank you, obviously,

         16  for your years of activism, which has had a huge

         17  positive benefit for tenants. And Mary, we welcome

         18  your testimony. I would like to see if you could

         19  just summarize rather than read it, because we've

         20  run our time out.

         21                 MS. KOLAR: Sure.

         22                 So, my name is Mary Kolar. I'm an

         23  organizer at Tenants and Neighbors, which is a

         24  30-year-old advocacy organization organizing tenants

         25  to fight for tenants' rights and preserve affordable
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          2  housing.

          3                 For the past 14 years we have worked

          4  with tenants in buildings that have project-based

          5  subsidies, either through Section 8 or through the

          6  State's Mitchell-Lama program, but as I'm sure you

          7  know, sometimes tenants lose their fight to preserve

          8  the affordability through the project-based program

          9  and the buildings are converted to vouchers.

         10                 I just really quick want to cite a

         11  building that we're working with right now in

         12  Harlem, Mother Zion Apartments (phonetic), a Section

         13  8 building, where the landlord is threatening to

         14  remove the building from the project-based program,

         15  and tenants are fighting that decision.

         16                 But should they lose that fight and

         17  the building convert to vouchers, many families will

         18  potentially be displaced because only seven of the

         19  76 units in the building are one bedrooms, and there

         20  are many families that will be considered to be

         21  over-housed.

         22                 If ACORNs -- as ACORN's recent study

         23  estimates, 90 percent of New York City landlords

         24  refuse to accept Section 8 voucher tenants, these

         25  tenants who are now receiving vouchers and are
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          2  displaced through conversion, along with the 22,000

          3  tenants that will receive the vouchers that NYCHA

          4  will make available in the next two years, are all

          5  competing for just ten percent of the rental units

          6  in this City. This is obviously an important

          7  indication of why an anti-income discrimination

          8  bill's need is, as you know, very dire in New York

          9  City.

         10                 And it should also be noted that too

         11  often income discrimination drives voucher holders

         12  out of economically and socially thriving

         13  communities, and tenants are instead forced to live

         14  in substandard buildings, where landlords are unable

         15  to fill units with non-voucher tenants.

         16                 So, Tenants and Neighbors strongly

         17  urges New York City to join the 13 states and 17

         18  municipalities across the country to adopt measures

         19  like Intro. 61 in order to eradicate the problem of

         20  income discrimination. And thank you for the

         21  opportunity to testify on behalf of Tenants and

         22  Neighbors.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you both

         24  very much for your testimony and for your good work.

         25  And again, we thank Chair Felder and the team from
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          2  his Committee for their patience, and now this

          3  hearing from the General Welfare Committee is

          4  adjourned.

          5                 (The following written testimony is

          6  read into the record.)

          7

          8  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          9  Linda Oestreicher

         10  Public Policy Associate

         11  Center for Independence of the Disabled

         12

         13                 My name is Linda Ostreicher, and I am

         14  the Public Policy Associate at the Center for

         15  Independence of the disabled in New York known as

         16  CIDNY. Today I'm going t read testimony from one of

         17  CIDNY's consumers who can't be here herself.

         18                 This testimony was written by a CIDNY

         19  employee, from what the consumer told her over the

         20  phone.  This consumer would not have written her

         21  story in these exact words, because she has a

         22  learning disability that causes her to read and

         23  write at a first grade level.

         24                 Thank you, City Council Members, for

         25  taking the time to hear my story.  I am sorry I am
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          2  unable to be here with you in person today, but as a

          3  domestic violence survivor, it is dangerous for me

          4  to appear in public.  However, I still want to share

          5  with you the difficulties I have encountered trying

          6  to find an apartment with a Section Eight voucher

          7  and I want to urge you to support Intro. 61, which

          8  protects people with Section Eight vouchers from

          9  discrimination.

         10                 After my children's father left our

         11  home in June 11, 2005, I found it very difficult to

         12  make ends meet.  I am not only a single mother of

         13  three children, but also I have a disability.

         14  Desperate for help, I applied for a Section Eight

         15  voucher in June 2006.  The interview was a challenge

         16  in itself.  When I told the workers that I needed

         17  help filling out the papers because I am dyslexic,

         18  they had no one to help me.  I ended up staying

         19  late, struggling to fill out the forms.  Things got

         20  worse when I started looking for apartments.  I

         21  started by going through every real estate listing

         22  on the list that Section Eight gave me.  When I

         23  tried to go to the Bronx, I ended up in New Jersey,

         24  getting lost everywhere because it is very difficult

         25  for me to read a map due to my disability.  I
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          2  definitely learned the City well.  It's funny now

          3  but it wasn't then.

          4                 All this was made worse by the fact

          5  that so few brokers are willing to rent their

          6  apartments to someone with a Section Eight voucher.

          7  In one case, my sister, who makes $55,000 a year,

          8  signed a donor release to help me in case I back up

          9  on my rent.  When I went to fill out the rental

         10  application at Parkchester Realty, the broker told

         11  my sister that she would have to make three times

         12  the amount she makes in order to cover herself and

         13  us.  Since the rent was only $959 and my voucher

         14  alone was $1,069, we both thought that this was a

         15  ridiculous reason to not give us the apartment, and

         16  walked out.

         17                 Another time I went to see an

         18  apartment on the Section Eight list posted at $1,300

         19  a month.  When I got there, the broker told me that

         20  Section Eight had listed the price incorrectly, and

         21  that the actual cost was $1,500.  I was pretty sure

         22  that she was lying, because Section Eight does an

         23  inspection on the apartments before they list them

         24  to make sure that the rent is correct and that they

         25  are not overcharging.  Still, I moved on.
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          2                 Because I was having such a hard time

          3  finding a place, my voucher had to be renewed three

          4  times.  This month, April 20th would have been the

          5  final date after which I would have lost the

          6  voucher.  But luckily I found an apartment.  The

          7  place I found was not on the Section Eight list,  I

          8  found it on my own.  I saw a sign on the door and

          9  went in and talked to the owner, explaining to her

         10  the good and bad things about Section Eight.

         11                 The landlord and the real estate

         12  brokers seem to assume that anyone on Section Eight

         13  is a bad person, but there are many people like me,

         14  who've just had bad luck and need some help. I urge

         15  you to support this important legislation, and make

         16  it illegal for landlords to discriminate against

         17  people like me just because we have a Section Eight

         18  voucher.

         19                 Thank you.

         20

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         22  Jordan Pender

         23  Tenant Organizer

         24  The Urban Homesteading Assistance Board

         25
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          2                 First, I want to thank Chair Bill

          3  DeBlasio for giving the Urban Homesteading

          4  Assistance Board the opportunity to testify before

          5  the General Welfare Committee.  UHAB was established

          6  more than 30 years ago as a Citywide, not-for-profit

          7  organization committed to creating collective

          8  homeownership opportunities for low-income families.

          9

         10                 Since that time we have created more

         11  than 1,000 limited equity cooperatives, serving more

         12  than 30,000 low income families throughout New York

         13  City.

         14                 Over the past several years, UHAB has

         15  expanded its focus and has become very active in

         16  organizing and providing technical assistance to

         17  residents in dozens of buildings that are converting

         18  from project- based subsidies to tenant- based

         19  Section Eight vouchers.  The landlord's termination

         20  of a project- based contract is traumatic for

         21  families on a number of levels; however, one of the

         22  greatest fears that residents grapple with is the

         23  insecurity that accompanies the conversion to a

         24  tenant- based subsidy in the form of a voucher.

         25  Tenants realize that landlords may terminate their
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          2  residency because landlords do not want to accept

          3  Section Eight vouchers.

          4                 Residents living in former project-

          5  based Section Eight and Mitchell- Lama buildings

          6  face a double- edged sword when their buildings are

          7  converted and vouchers are issued.  They may find

          8  their existing landlord unwilling to accept their

          9  tenant- based subsidy.

         10                 However, if they decide to take the

         11  portable voucher and move to another apartment, they

         12  will likely have difficulty finding a landlord

         13  willing to accept their voucher elsewhere.  The

         14  resident may find their voucher is worth little more

         15  than a piece of paper and that they are greeted by

         16  income discrimination from many directions.

         17                 Tenants from Brooklyn to the Bronx,

         18  are living in fear that landlords will stop

         19  accepting Section Eight vouchers. UHAB works with a

         20  360- unit Mitchell-Lama building in Coney Island

         21  that the landlord recently converted, which has

         22  thrown tenants into a panic.  These tenants fear

         23  they may no longer be able to afford rents.

         24                 Additionally, we are working with

         25  residents in a 93 unit complex in Harlem and a 500-
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          2  unit complex on Staten Island that are threatened by

          3  pending conversions.  The tenants will soon deal

          4  with the insecurity resultant by the issuance of

          5  vouchers.  Clearly this is a problem that affects

          6  many residents throughout the five Boroughs.

          7                 Another serious problem tenants face

          8  is racial discrimination.  A civil rights

          9  organization called the Walker Project has

         10  documented racial discrimination in housing.  They

         11  outfitted voucher holders of different races with

         12  hidden video cameras and sent them into the

         13  management office of a building owned by a national

         14  housing developer who happens to have a huge real-

         15  estate portfolio in New York City.

         16                 What was clearly captured on camera

         17  was evidence that the site manager discriminated on

         18  the basis of race.  This is just one example of the

         19  pervasive discrimination that owners and managers

         20  too often get away with.

         21                 It is for these reasons that, on

         22  behalf of UHAB, I urge the New York City Council to

         23  pass Intro. 61 in order to protect tenants.

         24  Respectfully submitted,

         25  Jordan Pender, Tenant Organizer
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          2  The Urban Homesteading Assistance Board

          3

          4  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          5  Pamela Sah

          6  Legal Director

          7  Fair Housing Justice Center

          8

          9                 The Fair Housing Justice Center

         10  thanks the General Welfare Committee for this

         11  opportunity to testify in support of Intro. 61,

         12  which would prohibit housing providers from

         13  discriminating based on lawful source of income.  We

         14  appreciate that the Committee is considering this

         15  legislation on April 11th, the 39th anniversary of

         16  the passage of the Federal Fair Housing Act.

         17                 The Fair Housing Justice Center

         18  fights housing discrimination in New York City and

         19  surrounding counties through a number of program

         20  activities.  In response to housing discrimination

         21  complaints, we offer intake and fair housing

         22  counseling in multiple languages including Spanish

         23  and Mandarin, fair housing testing and

         24  investigations, and referrals to cooperating

         25  attorneys or administrative agencies.
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          2                 Our services are free of charge and

          3  made available without regard to income.  In

          4  addition to assisting complainants with fair housing

          5  claims, our staff of experienced fair housing

          6  advocates provides support to attorneys, community-

          7  based organizations and policymakers concerning fair

          8  housing legal issues.

          9                 Since opening in 2005, we have

         10  received hundreds of complaints from individuals and

         11  organizations alleging discrimination on the basis

         12  of characteristics protected under federal, state

         13  and local laws, including race, color, or national

         14  origin; mental or physical disability; sex

         15  (including sexual harassment); family status

         16  (presence of children under 18); religion; age;

         17  sexual orientation and gender identity; and alien

         18  age/citizenship status.

         19                 In addition, we regularly receive

         20  complaints from families and individuals

         21  encountering housing providers who refuse to accept

         22  a wide range of benefits and subsidies that support

         23  low income households, including Section Eight

         24  vouchers, disability payments, pension benefits,

         25  retirement income, housing subsidies to support
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          2  children at risk of entering foster care, state and

          3  local housing programs, and more.

          4                 Dozens of states and cities have

          5  passed legislation prohibiting such source of income

          6  discrimination, and we ask the New York City Council

          7  to join this movement to protect senior citizens,

          8  persons with disabilities, low- income households,

          9  and other vulnerable populations.

         10                 Hundreds of thousands of New Yorkers

         11  are at risk of source of income discrimination;

         12  713,200 families, or 24 percent of New York City

         13  households receive Social Security benefits and

         14  353,000 households or 12 percent receive retirement

         15  income. Over one million households (14 percent of

         16  New York City residents over age five) including

         17  persons with disabilities who currently or may

         18  receive Social Security Disability insurance, and

         19  192,000 residents (six percent) receive Supplemental

         20  Security Income (SSI) for low income disabled

         21  persons.

         22                 Finally, approximately 104,000 New

         23  York City residents pay their rent with assistance

         24  from a Section Eight voucher.  By discriminating

         25  against households who have sufficient income to pay
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          2  their rent, but who do not earn traditional

          3  employment income, housing providers close off

          4  desperately- needed affordable housing options in

          5  New York City's tight housing market.             The

          6  Fair Housing Justice Center also believes that many

          7  housing providers use this loophole in civil rights

          8  protections to mask other forms of illegal

          9  discrimination.  For example, landlords may claim

         10  that they do not accept government benefits or

         11  rental subsidies when in fact they are refusing to

         12  rent to racial or ethnic minorities, families with

         13  children, people with disabilities, single mothers

         14  and other protected groups.

         15                 A testing study conducted in Chicago

         16  by discrimination and race discrimination often go

         17  hand- in- hand. First, the study found that

         18  approximately 70 percent of landlords refused to

         19  accept Section Eight vouchers from white testers.

         20  In addition, the Lawyers' Committee found that the

         21  majority of housing providers who had agreed to

         22  accept vouchers from white testers then refused to

         23  accept vouchers from minority testers.

         24                 On April 11, 1968, one week after the

         25  assassination of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., the
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          2  United States Congress finally succeeded in passing

          3  the federal Fair Housing Act.

          4                 As we approach the  40th anniversary

          5  of these events, we ask the New York City Council to

          6  continue the tradition of strong civil rights

          7  protections by enacting Intro. 61 to add lawful

          8  source of income as a protected characteristic under

          9  the New York City Human Rights Law.  Thank you.

         10

         11  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         12  Patrick Markee

         13  Senior Policy Analyst

         14  Coalition for the Homeless

         15

         16                 I present this testimony on behalf of

         17  Coalition for the Homeless, a not- for- profit

         18  organization that provides advocacy and services for

         19  over 3,500 homeless New Yorkers each day.  Since its

         20  founding in 1981, the Coalition has advocated for

         21  proven, cost effective solutions to the crisis of

         22  modern mass homelessness, which now continues into

         23  its third decade.  The Coalition has also struggled

         24  for more than 25 years to protect the rights of

         25  homeless people through litigation around the right
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          2  to shelter, the right to vote, and appropriate

          3  housing and services for homeless people living with

          4  mental illness and HIV/AIDS.

          5                 The Coalition operates several

          6  direct- services programs that both offer vital

          7  services to homeless and formerly homeless New

          8  Yorkers, and demonstrate effective long- term

          9  solutions.  These programs include supportive

         10  housing for families and individuals living with

         11  AIDS, a job- training program for homeless and

         12  formerly- homeless women, a Rental Assistance

         13  Program which provides rent subsidies and support

         14  services to help homeless individuals rent private-

         15  market apartments, and two buildings in Manhattan

         16  that provide permanent housing for formerly homeless

         17  families and individuals.

         18                 In addition, the Coalition's food

         19  program provides 1,000 nutritious meals to street

         20  homeless New Yorkers each night and our Crisis

         21  Intervention Program assists more than 1,000

         22  homeless and at- risk households each month with

         23  eviction prevention assistance, client advocacy,

         24  referrals for shelter and emergency food programs,

         25  and assistance with public benefits.
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          2                 Prohibiting discrimination based on

          3  Lawful source of income, the Coalition for the

          4  Homeless strongly supports Introduction 61, the

          5  legislation before the Committee today that will

          6  prohibit discrimination against tenants and

          7  prospective tenants based on their lawful source of

          8  income, including housing subsidies and public

          9  benefits.

         10                 Homeless and formerly- homeless

         11  families and individuals, along with other low-

         12  income New Yorkers, rely disproportionately on

         13  housing subsidies and public benefits to pay for

         14  their housing, as well as other necessities like

         15  food and clothing.  Indeed, given the widening gap

         16  in New Yorker City between the cost of rental

         17  housing and the income of renter households, for a

         18  rising number of New Yorker City renters such

         19  subsidies and benefits represent the difference

         20  between having a home and languishing in municipal

         21  shelters or on the streets.

         22                 As this Committee knows well, New

         23  York City is currently in the midst of an historic

         24  crisis of family homelessness.  In February of this

         25  year, according to data from the New York City
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          2  Department of Homeless Services, there were an

          3  average of nearly 9,300 homeless families sleeping

          4  each night in the municipal shelter system, a

          5  modern- day record.  Equally alarming, family

          6  homelessness is on the rise.

          7                 Last year the number of homeless

          8  families sleeping in shelters each night rose by

          9  17.6 percent, while the number of homeless children

         10  in shelters rose by 18.1 percent.  One of the major

         11  causes of the rising population of homeless families

         12  is the dramatic increase in the number of new

         13  homeless families. According to City data, compared

         14  to the previous year 2006 saw a 22.9 percent

         15  increase in the number of homeless families new to

         16  the shelter system an increase in large part driven

         17  by the  growing scarcity of rental housing

         18  affordable to low- income New Yorkers.

         19                 For the past two decades, the City's

         20  major tool in re- locating homeless families from

         21  shelters to private- market housing has been the

         22  federal Section Eight Housing Voucher Program. Since

         23  the 1980s tens of thousands of families have been

         24  successfully moved from shelters to private- market

         25  apartments through the use of such vouchers.
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          2                 Moreover, according to an acclaimed

          3  2005 research study by the Vera Institute for

          4  Justice (summarized in the briefing paper attached),

          5  which was commissioned by the Department of Homeless

          6  Services, formerly- homeless families with federal

          7  housing vouchers have remarkably low rates of return

          8  to shelter.

          9                 Notwithstanding the Bloomberg

         10  Administrations's two and- a- half- year- old policy

         11  of reducing homeless New Yorker's access to such

         12  federal housing subsidies, as well as harmful

         13  reductions in Section Eight funding levels by the

         14  Bush Administration and the previous Congress, the

         15  Section Eight Voucher Program will continue to be a

         16  major part of New York City's efforts to address and

         17  reduce homelessness.

         18                 Indeed, the Bloomberg Administration

         19  is currently discussing new rent subsidy programs

         20  for homeless families that would rely in part on the

         21  use of Section Eight vouchers for some families.

         22  Moreover, in the current calendar year the

         23  Administration has allocated around 3,000 Section

         24  Eight vouchers to at- risk homeless households

         25  assisted by the City's Home Base prevention offices,
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          2  and the City has also allocated several hundred

          3  vouchers to help move street homeless New Yorkers

          4  into apartment with support services.

          5                 Nevertheless, many homeless,

          6  formerly- homeless and at- risk households struggle

          7  to obtain and keep their private- market housing

          8  despite the presence of Section Eight vouchers, as

          9  well as other public benefits, because some property

         10  owners refuse to accept payment of rent from these

         11  subsidies and benefits. Over the years, we have

         12  received an alarming number of reports of homeless

         13  families and individuals who have been unable to use

         14  their Section Eight vouchers within the roughly 180

         15  days that they are permitted by City rules.

         16                 These homeless New Yorkers have told

         17  us of being repeatedly rejected for apartments by

         18  landlords and brokers, even when the apartment rents

         19  were within the Section Eight guidelines.

         20  Tragically, may of these homeless households ended

         21  up remaining in the shelter system, often for

         22  several years.

         23                 In explaining the rejections to our

         24  clients, many landlords and brokers have been

         25  remarkable blunt.  They do not want to rent to
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          2  tenants or prospective tenants with Section Eight

          3  housing vouchers.  Many landlords have gone further

          4  and have explained that they do not want to rent to

          5  tenants or prospective tenants who receive any kind

          6  of public benefit.

          7                 And, indeed many more homeless and

          8  formerly- homeless New Yorkers receive other public

          9  benefits, including Social Security disability

         10  benefits, Supplemental Security Income (SSI),

         11  veterans benefits, and public assistance than

         12  receive Section Eight housing assistance.

         13                 Remarkably, unlike other cities large

         14  and small across this country, New York does not

         15  have a statute which explicitly prohibits this form

         16  of discrimination against low- income tenants and

         17  prospective tenants.  Intro. 61 will address that

         18  shortfall and will provide a vital protection for

         19  low- income New Yorkers, including the growing

         20  number of homeless families and individuals who are

         21  struggling to find and keep decent housing.  For

         22  this reason, once again, we urge you to pass Intro.

         23  61.

         24                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         25  present this testimony and we look forward to
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          2  working with the City Council towards passage of

          3  this important legislation.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 1:08 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 11th day of April 2007.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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